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‘Roar with laughter.’


Laura Thompson





‘Fascinating.’


Daily Telegraph





‘The dazzling beauty… wit pervades her writings.’


Anne de Courcey, Daily Mail Critics Choice





‘Sharp, funny, debunking…


[Mitford] laughter rings through.’


Evening Standard Book of the Week





‘When she wielded her elegant stiletto, it was to unmask an ego… stuffed with lives and letters, each subject brightly and sharply illuminated.’


Valerie Grove, The Times





‘Controversial opinions and catty humour prevail… The life in writing of a fascinating woman… It is impossible not to be dazzled… testimony to the sheer rigour of her thought and the crispness and elegance of her prose.’


Catherine Heaney, Irish Times





‘An intimate portrait.’


Sunday Business Post





‘An impressively wide range… sketches of fascinating figures, from Cecil Beaton and the Duchess of Windsor to Putzi Hanfstaengl, Hitler of course and Dr Goebbels. She is at her most entertaining.’


Selina Hastings Spectator





Diana Mitford’s bestselling collection of writings is expanded with articles on Oswald Mosley and Lord Berners in which she considers being a fascist. Like her literary sisters, Diana Mitford wrote widely, not only on her own fascinating, controversial life, but also recorded intimately placed observations of friends who also happened to have been leading political and social figures of the day. Many of the scintillating articles included here circulated only privately to a small group of subscribers, and are collected for the first time in this volume with a forward by her sister Deborah Devonshire.





Diana Mitford was the third of the Mitford sisters. She first married a Guinness, with whom she had two children, and then Oswald Mosley, with whom she also had two children. She then became a bestselling author with her autobiography A Life of Contrasts and The Duchess of Windsor. Deborah Devonshire is the dowager duchess of Devonshire, the youngest Mitford sister and a best-selling writer.
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Editor’s Note





Perhaps like everyone who only knew Diana Mitford from the media, I was not sure who to expect. We first got in touch when in 2001 her sister Deborah Devonshire had kindly suggested I should ask Diana to write a foreword for a book on their sister Nancy Mitford. I had just started a publishing company and watched an entertaining documentary on Nancy. There was at that time nothing on her in print and I wanted to reissue the autobiography Harold Acton had edited from the letters Nancy had been collecting for this purpose before she died. Diana and I had only corresponded about the elegant and copy-perfect foreword that had rolled off the fax.


Now I was about to have lunch at her home in Paris. The interviews that I had read in advance made it sound as if being in the presence of Diana could be nerve-racking on account of her strident political views—a very different person indeed from her Mitfordian autobiography A Life of Contrasts that I had also read.


I rang the doorbell next to the enormous porte cochère where she lived opposite the French Ministry of Defence, not at all sure how the day would develop. The concierge let me in and at the top of the stairs stood an attractive elderly lady with limpid blue eyes and striking white hair dressed in a well-tailored dove-grey dress. Although she moved deliberately, she seemed fit enough to run the Paris marathon. The first thing she said in the most extraordinarily elongated pre-War vowels was ‘You must always shout at me, I am frightfully deaf.’ The second, ‘I was awfully worried, you are probably famished.’ I had arrived by train from London but had forgotten about the one hour time difference and had been too embarrassed to tell Diana’s maid on the phone the precise reason why I was delayed and had left it rather vague whether the general unreliability of public transport might have been to blame. But here I was an hour late, and she had been worried.


Exhausted by waiting for me, Diana retired for a while as I had a perfectly cooked lunch—prepared by her maid—in the dining room with fragrant white lilies, her favourite flower, while overlooking the large garden of the French Ministry of Defence where various functions were taking place in the dappled shade. When she re-emerged I had one of the most delightful afternoons I have ever had. The refreshing thing was that not for a second had I arrived at Mount Olympus for a steep climb. Evelyn Waugh, Lytton Strachey, John Betjeman, the Churchills etc had all been close friends, but opposite me sat a gorgeous no-nonsense nineteen year old with a razor-sharp mind in a neat ninety year old body who enjoyed laughing about many subjects as well as batting away questions on the 7 most controversial years of her long life. (Apart from A.N. Wilson’s articles, Mark Steyn’s column of his seduction, Valerie Grove’s interview when Diana published an expanded edition of her autobiography with me, and Duncan Fallowell’s last interviews—reproduced here for the paperback edition—are probably the most true-to-life portraits—the photographs less often so as they seem to have been the ones from the end of a session with the photographer when Diana was getting tired.) At the same time, on her coffee table were several heavy tomes in German, English and French in various states of being read—if Britain liked intellectuals in the way France does, she might have wanted to be one.


After our meeting we became firm ‘fax friends’—Diana’s joke. Over time arose the idea of this book—a collection of the diary she wrote from 1953 to 1960 and most of her journalism. Her last long-hand fax arrived two weeks before she died in the summer of 2003 when Paris was suffering under a prolonged heat wave. She did not want to move to an air-conditioned hotel and succumbed to the heat. I was deeply moved when her daughter-in-law Charlotte Mosley rang with the unexpected news. She was, in the poignant words of A.N. Wilson, ‘a friend whose conversations and letters I already miss with aching sadness’.


A wave of new books on the Mitfords have brought a fresh interest in Diana as a writer and wickedly original observer of the twentieth century (including Oswald Mosley, the love of her life). It prompted me to resume editing the book that follows.


In many ways The Pursuit of Laughter is Diana’s life in writings. Her teenage self was shaped by two women, her nanny who said on her wedding day, ‘Don’t worry no one will be looking at you’, and her mother’s childhood friend Violet Hammersley (‘Mrs Ham’) whose literary connections made the sisters feel like ‘country bumpkins’. Diana quickly changed all that aged 19. At her burial next to her sisters, one of her Irish grandchildren—neither of us knew each other, though she looked exactly like Diana’s photographs from the 30s—stopped me for a chat in the most likeably direct way, and I could see how Diana’s friendships must have quickly multiplied away from home.


But the literary seeds only started in the 50s when the Mosleys moved from Wiltshire to Paris next to the Duke and Duchess of Windsor. Though no longer a supporter of the British Empire but an ardent European instead, Mosley decided not to mix in French domestic politics. There was also not much politicking left in Britain as it was distant and very hostile. He was banned from the British media for the time being, and so a publishing company was set up, Euphorion, after a character in Goethe’s Faust sequel—released from jail Mosley had declared the death of fascism and was preparing his next aim. Diana gave her loyal support—though she was never a politician like his first wife Cimmie Curzon, who stood as a prospective MP for Mosley’s party. The idea was that Euphorion would publish his books while Diana would be free to commission a cultural list. She announced her translation of Goethe’s first Faust with a modest volley of three orders (the success of her 1985 translation of racing champion Nicki Lauda’s autobiography would dwarf Goethe), but she was more fortunate with Stuka Pilot, a first-person account by the Luftwaffe’s most decorated pilot. Though it was published without much hope as a list filler out of kindness to the author, British readers took to heart his anorak style and expert thrashing of Allied forces; it became an instant bestseller.


More important however was the European, a cultural magazine with the same purpose. It circulated in a small number among an exclusive group of friends. From a standing start Diana edited from her home in Orsay a surprisingly professional monthly. At the age of 43, she was writing many of the light-hearted articles herself at the relentless pace required by a periodical. She wrote book reviews and a very witty diary for her friends to turn to when they received the latest edition. All are from her unexpectedly original point of view and in her distinctive Mitford style. Clearly in her element while 50s Paris was leading the world in fashion, ideas and literature, she wrote articles that were both waspishly funny, timeless and informed about anything from sex, to her friends, to prison. They were completely separate from Mosley’s ponderous pieces about the great issues of the day that appeared anonymously—the point of the magazine. It is said that Flaubert’s punchy send-up of the French in his Dictionaire des idées reçues is untranslatable in English because the British have no ‘received’ ideas as such. But reading Diana’s observations from France, there appears to be a stock room of hypocrisy and nonsense after all. Having been jailed from the beginning of the war for being married to Mosley (Diana never knew the 2004 news that it was not Nancy but her father-in-law, Colonel Guinness, who ensured that she ended up in jail) she was less than persuaded by the certainties of British culture. She had an unerring eye for rubbish logic that her sisters must have learned to fear or shriek about with laughter. Surprisingly for the wife of a notorious politician, she also reveals below that she voted only once in her life (for a Liberal Democrat in today’s political terms, it seems). This volume gathers for the first time these privately printed essays and the diary.


Diana’s pièce de resistance followed with her autobiography, A Life of Contrasts published by her friend Hamish Hamilton in 1977. It is safe to say that there is no light-hearted autobiography quite like it and one imagines that anyone with even a flicker of interest in literature, society and politics of the twentieth century ought to read it. Diana mentioned she was particularly proud of the Waughian portrait of her idiosyncratic mother-in-law Lady Evelyn Guinness (reproduced on p. 58 below) which she had carefully crafted to get right. Colonel Guinness (later the first Lord Moyne) receives only a passing mention as she seems to have been put off by him—in 1928 his mind was on increasing Britain’s beetroot production as minister of agriculture (he was murdered by Zionists in 1944 when Churchill gave him the Middle East of the Empire to look after). Later she wrote her best reviews for A.N. Wilson, literary editor from 1990 to 1997 of the Evening Standard. While being fair minded she sent up books in sentences that are as elegantly handled as a Chanel dress. Her review, for example, of saving the elephant—of which, as far as one knows, she had no knowledge—is a laugh and miles removed from being ill-informed, sour or grindingly Puritanical. Entirely a-religious, she dissects throughout her writings church tenets in a way that dispatches all cant in a devastating and amusing way.


This collection reveals much about the broadly populated avenues of Diana’s thinking. She writes about her finding clever friends and observing that ‘what they lack in good nature they make up for over and over again in the amusement and interest they provide.’ It seems to have been a compass for her life. She recalls in the portrait of her husband—included in this paperback edition for the first time—an instance a few years before his death in 1980, when he disagreed in no uncertain terms with her. Mosley’s biographer Robert Skidelsky, who was there, said after hearing him for a while, ‘“Oh, Kit [Mosley], poor Diana!” I turned to Robert: “Don’t worry. One doesn’t live with Kit for forty years and get upset by a few insults.” Later on, when Kit came to say goodnight, he said, “It was dreadful of you to say that to Robert; he will imagine I am rude to you.” When I laughed, he began to laugh too.’ Perhaps no wonder her favourite book was Wahlverwandschaften [passions of choice], one of Goethe’s most complex works—it is the jokes, Diana mentioned.


In many ways Diana belonged to the tradition of literary figures from previous centuries who, apart from literature, felt most pressingly the irritation—and vice versa—of their friends and relatives in politics. Reviewing Mrs Hammersley’s translation of the prolific seventeenth-century letter-writer Mme de Sévigné, Diana says they ‘could almost have been written yesterday. She walked in the woods, received her grand neighbours, chatted with the abbé, read a great many books, and never stopped assuring her correspondents that she was not in the least bored [p. 351].’ This last assurance was a tease directed at Mrs Hammersley (who thought of herself as a poor exile on the Isle of Wight), but Diana shared an outlook that was identical to Mme de Sévigné’s. In the 30s Hitler had burst on the scene from nowhere—no one from the European ruling classes had ever heard of his family (even the name Hitler was made up). When asked by James Naughtie in 2002 on national radio what she would do if Hitler came through the door, she said without a pause, ‘I think you would be just like me and would ask him to tell a few things… He was a mystery person.’ If her frank curiosity was a relic from the past, so was her ancien-régime incarceration in Holloway Prison in Islington on the secret testimony of her (then) ex-father-in-law, who happened to have Churchill’s ear—Churchill was Diana’s close relative through her mother who was his cousin. A talent to annoy can be a risky thing in such circumstances. In previous centuries she herself would no doubt have written many letters from prison. But in our modern age she was only allowed two, plus one to parliament—every so often. Instead the first cue to writing came in the 1950s with the private articles below.


This book seeks to show what those close to Diana saw in her, a delightful friend with a complex connection to modern history; a conundrum that tells us something about ourselves, too. Her brilliance lay in the art of conversation and friendship with many people, reflected in The Pursuit of Laughter.


Martin Rynja


November 2008



















Foreword


Deborah Devonshire





My sister Diana was the fourth child and third daughter of our parents, then David and Sydney Mitford. Three more daughters were born, so she was midway between the eldest (Nancy) and the youngest (myself).


An aura of beauty surrounded her; she was always the best-looking woman at any gathering, without make-up or artifice, and often wearing clothes till they were threadbare. She was beautiful when she was born in 1910 and remained beautiful till her death aged 93. An acquaintance, who had not seen her for 50 years, was walking behind her in a Paris street and immediately recognised her, so distinctive was her walk.


It was Diana’s beauty which made the first impression, but she had other qualities any one of which would have made her memorable.


Her ‘education’ was sketchy to say the least, depending on the talent (or lack of) of a single teacher, a governess, who had charge of all four energetic and opinionated children of varying ages, interests and abilities—none of them submissive or obedient. School, which Diana dreaded, was not a threat because my father did not allow it then.


When the childhood home of Batsford Park, Moreton-in-Marsh, was sold in 1919 my father bought Asthall Manor on the fringe of his estate near Burford. The ancient house had a barn nearby which he converted into a library for the Batsford books. The four elder children had bedrooms above, separate from the main house. My brother Tom’s beloved piano was installed and there the teenagers could do as they pleased, uninterrupted by grown-ups, as long as they were punctual for meals and anything else which depended on my father’s strict rules of punctuality. The books and Tom’s music were their education.


Diana was 16 when we moved to Swinbrook House. This was a farmhouse a mile or so from the village, much enlarged by my father for his family, now seven with the arrival of three more girls.


The older ones lost their independence with the barn. They minded it more than my parents ever knew, nowhere now to themselves to sit, read, talk and play the piano, but they must share the drawing room with all who came or sit in their small bedrooms. The books were now in my father’s study, where he was not to be disturbed.


Diana began to fret and longed to be grown up and away. She was sent to Paris to learn French and there she met the painter Paul César Helleu, a friend of our Bowles grandfather, who had made several portraits of my mother and was an immediate admirer of Diana. He was the first of many who sat at her feet, spellbound.


She married Bryan Guinness when she was 18 and soon found that her natural friends were writers: Lytton Strachey, Harold Acton, Robert Byron, Henry Yorke, Evelyn Waugh, John Betjeman and many more became her companions.


The marriage did not last and in 1933 she moved with her two little Guinness sons to a house in Eaton Square where she could meet the man who from then on filled her entire life. Sir Oswald Mosley was married. There was no question of him leaving his wife for Diana, as politics was his passion and divorce would have ended his career. She accepted this state of affairs without question.


Diana’s decision was shocking to my parents. Nearly 80 years ago moral standards were different and divorce carried a stigma. So deeply did they feel about it and the circumstances of her new life that my sister Jessica and I were not allowed to go to her house. It never occurred to us to question our parents’ wishes and I did not get to know Diana well until after the war. It was not until after the unexpected death from peritonitis of Lady Cynthia Mosley that they were free to marry.


Diana and her next sister Unity often went to Germany in the 1930s where they met and made friends with Hitler and some of his intimates. Both Hitler and Goebbels (Frau Goebbels was a particular friend of Diana’s) were present at Diana’s secret wedding with Oswald Mosley in 1936. Our family knew nothing of it until much later.


I believe Diana was the only person to know Winston Churchill and Adolf Hitler well. Clementine Churchill was my father’s first cousin and Diana and Tom Mitford were frequent guests at Chartwell, Diana Churchill being our Diana’s greatest friend.


With the birth of two more sons, all her energies were now devoted to making a home for Mosley and supporting his ideas in politics.


Their long imprisonment without trial from spring 1940 to autumn 1943 denied her her four little boys. This must have had a deep effect on Diana though, such was her self discipline, it was never apparent to acquaintances.


She did not wish to be a public figure in her own right, to stand for Parliament or otherwise take part in staged events. She took the old fashioned role of total unfailing support of the husband she adored. A lesser person might have given up the unequal struggle against his unpopular views and a vehemently hostile press. After his death she leapt to his defence whenever the media produced an unfair or inaccurate picture of Mosley.


Diana’s loyalty was proved once more in her efforts to see the ailing Duchess of Windsor during her prolonged and lonely final illness, ‘her living death’. The Duchess’s butler, Georges (afterwards decorated by the Queen for devoted service to the Duchess), had orders not to allow anyone in. Many times Diana took flowers, although she knew that a visit was forbidden.


She was always a great reader, hungry for literature and intellectually superior to her sisters. In her nineties she read and re-read German and French classics in the original, particularly Goethe and Proust.


Although she wrote brilliant letters all her life, Diana didn’t start writing for publication until the 1950s. The words flowed easily. Like her sisters Nancy and Jessica, she was always very much herself—a debunker of pomposity and pretensions. She could conjure up a scene in a few words—describing Gerald Berners’ house ‘Faringdon, with a view of half England from its five drawing room windows’, and Paul Mellon, whom she admired as a collector and philanthropist, ‘sails through the eye of a needle with ease’.


Many of these reviews were for Books and Bookmen and the Evening Standard. She delighted in reviewing for the former, as she could decide the length of her piece. The newspaper was more widely read but was restrictive in length.


When she moved to a flat in Paris as a widow she was 89. It was near the office of Vogue magazine. Passing their window she was unconscious of the fact that the girls pressed their faces to the glass to see this elegant, upright great-granny to twenty-two walking by. She had become a legend.


During the move from their house at Orsay to the Paris flat her daughter-in-law Charlotte (married to Alexander) was her prop and stay. She arranged everything and looked after Diana as if she were her own mother. Diana loved her deeply and this relationship was a joy in her last years.


In middle-and old-age her rare ability to make new and much younger friends was not so much an effort on her part as a necessity on theirs to hold onto her brilliant company and sympathetic nature. Those who worked for her felt the same affection.


It was interesting to see her with people who were prejudiced against her politically or in any other way. You could watch the hackles go down as the person slowly succumbed to the charm and intelligence he met so unexpectedly.


Her honesty floored her critics. They did not expect it and did not know how to deal with it.


In the memorable television interview with Russell Harty, her interrogator was several times at a loss as to what to ask next when her reply was truthful, with no hiding behind meaningless words in the style to which we have become accustomed when listening to our politicians. At the end of the interview, the camera dwelt for a moment too long on Mr Harty, who gave a visible and audible ‘Phew!’ in thankfulness that it was over.


This book of her collected writing reflects her character. She was usually generous minded—of Cynthia Gladwyn, wife of an erstwhile ambassador in Paris, Diana wrote, ‘I suppose I must declare an interest. She says in her diary that I am evil.’ In spite of this strange statement Cynthia asked Diana to review her book on the British embassy in Paris and a favourable piece was published.


She could also be stingingly sarcastic, describing the old political adversaries Winston Churchill, Duff Cooper and the like. Churchill campaigning in the election of 1945 ‘with his cigar, his grin and his V sign’. Duff Cooper tells of ‘praise of his own talents’ and how his ‘heart felt lighter than it had felt for a year’ when he heard of the outbreak of war in 1939, and that night at the Savoy Grill he ‘dealt very successfully with a cold grouse’. What would Diana have made of his diaries and boastings of female conquests, published recently?


Of a passage in Selina Hastings’ Evelyn Waugh, which listed his misdoings, Diana wrote, ‘If Selina could have spent one single day with Evelyn, how enormously she would have appreciated the irresistible charm of the man, the cleverness, the sharply expressed and individual point of view, the wonderful jokes, the laughter!’


Evelyn ‘quarrelled with Henry Yorke and Randolph Churchill, both alcoholics like himself. All died in their late fifties or early sixties—their lives a sort of temperance tract.’ Her perception of character was uncanny and this comes to light throughout her work.


Diana’s political views and the opposite ones held by my sister Jessica were irrelevant to me from my apolitical stance. After years I still miss her letters and long to see her writing on the envelope with a French stamp. They were unique. Nothing can take their place. With her death so much in my life has disappeared for ever. But this volume reveals as much of her as it does of the people, books and places she describes. That is why I am so pleased to write this foreword.



















The 30s and 40s
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Knight Errant


‘Excuse me,’ said a taxi driver as he deposited Lord Longford at his Chelsea flat, not long after the Copenhagen visit. ‘I can never remember your other name. I know you’re Lord Porn, of course, but your other name slips my memory.’ Lord Longford likes publicity. He considers that even ‘bad’ or ridiculous publicity helps his good causes. He is an inveterate, untiring do-gooder, who needs must love the lowest when he sees it. ‘Blessed are the poor in spirit’; the poorer in spirit the better, for him. If he has a fault (and I am not saying he has) it might be a grain of spiritual pride. As a prison visitor of renown he makes a bee-line for those convicted of the most horrible crimes. Possibly he likes sinners better than publicans, but he prefers either to the general run of hypocritical Pharisees.


Lord Longford is a clever man, the devoted husband of a brilliant wife and father of notable children. Ambitious, he has been a success in politics, several times holding high office, and also a success in the City as chairman of a bank. He is the author of an excellent book about de Valera and the Irish treaty, Peace by Ordeal. Mary Craig has discovered a great deal about his private life and his public life. She has written an enjoyable book, but it does not convey his charm; he emerges from her biography as an incorrigible oddity.


Apparently when Longford was given the Garter, Lord Mountbatten said it was an imaginative appointment, and Lord Longford was rather offended. After all, he complained, he was not a pop singer, but had been Leader of the House of Lords for years. I cannot help agreeing with Lord Mountbatten; it is very difficult indeed to think of Lord Longford as a knight, although he did once take part in a fight. This was in 1936 at a Mosley meeting in Oxford, where he got hurt and after which he changed his political allegiance from Conservative to Labour.


Frank Pakenham (as he then was) describes the scene:




I can still see Mosley standing there, black-shirted and black-trousered, looking like Wellington haranguing his troops before Waterloo… The socialists and revolutionary students had gone along to heckle: and I’d bought a two-and-sixpenny ticket just to see the fun. Someone shouted ‘Red Front’ and Mosley said ‘The next person who shouts that will get thrown out.’ Then Basil Murray, who was sitting just in front of me, stood up and said ‘Red Front’ very calmly, almost academically. Mosley ignored that, but when the next person shouted the slogan the Fascists came crashing down from the platform unbuckling their bicycle belts. Then the busmen joined in. They picked up the steel chairs from the hall and started using them as weapons. I was on the fringes of all this, but I decided I’d better join forces with the busmen, even though they were just as much in the wrong as the Fascists. So I started attacking the nearest blackshirts.





Christopher Mayhew (the Labour MP) was an eye-witness.




I remember Frank distinctly that evening. He had a steel chair, one of those chairs with a back, and he was holding it over his head with both hands in order to do battle with the blackshirts. And two of them were hanging round his neck, bunny punching him.





‘Unfortunately’ (Frank goes on) ‘I was fighting according to Queensberry rules, and they’re not very effective against steel chairs and bicycle belts. So I got knocked to the ground, dragging some of the Fascists with me. Then someone stamped on my kidneys and put me out of action.’


What is a ‘bicycle belt’? I have heard of a bicycle chain, but never of a bicycle belt. The blackshirts’ leather belts had nothing to do with bicycles. When they were assailed by huge Frank and the steel chair he hoped to smash them with, they may have wished they too had a weapon, but they were a disciplined body of men, and they were fighting in full view of Mosley up on the platform. They were allowed to use only their bare hands when ejecting trouble-makers or resisting attack. I doubt whether Lord Queensberry, when he made his rules, would have permitted the bashing of opponents with a steel chair. And in some mysterious way the steel chair has changed hands as the story goes on; it is no longer Frank but the blackshirts who are using it, along with their mythical bicycle belts.


It so happens that I was also an eye-witness, and the Pakenham version is wide of the mark. Mosley paid no attention to sillies like Basil Murray saying Red Front. Undergraduates opened newspapers and pretended to read them, ostentatiously rustling them. Mosley said he was glad to see the young gentlemen were studying as he had heard they were backward with their lessons. This mild sarcasm was the signal for the undergraduates and what Frank calls the busmen to jump up, shouting, and seizing their steel chairs to attack the stewards. They had not come to ‘heckle’, they hoped to break up the meeting; but they were quickly put out of the hall, and then Mosley spoke to a large audience for an hour, and answered questions as usual. Another eye-witness was the Chief Constable of Oxford. When Maurice Bowra, who had not been present, wrote a Pakenham-like account of the meeting in his memoirs, the Chief Constable sent him a letter saying he had been unfair; Sir Oswald was very patient with interrupters until members of the audience started shouting, he wrote.


About the change of political allegiance, Lord Longford has said: ‘Short of a change of sex, my life could hardly have been altered more radically.’


Faith, hope and charity, the greatest of these is charity. Longford is charitable. He does not give a fig for any of the things that make life worth living here below; art and music pass him by; even to good food he is indifferent. ‘Feeding him,’ says a friend, ‘is like filling up a car with petrol.’ He was once asked whether he saw himself as a success or a failure; his thoughts flew to St Peter. ‘Of course, the question of success or failure in the worldly sense will not be the crucial one in front of St Peter. Nor will it be totally irrelevant. He will surely want to know how far we have used the talents given to us.’ I suppose we can guess St Peter’s verdict. But what will Frank find to do up there? No more porn, no more prisons, no more injustice. Heaven knows, is the safest answer.


Another Christian socialist is Dr Mervyn Stockwood, the Bishop of Southwark. The Cross and the Sickle is a provocative title, but on the whole he wants what we all want: decent housing, less violence in the streets, a better life for everyone. How to get these things, that is the question. Perhaps he was carrying charity too far in allowing the Foreign Secretary to write a foreword. Short as it is, Dr Owen can only manage a sort of pidgin English. ‘He identifies [sic] that they have no value-oriented philosophy…’ Oh dear. Maybe his first language is Welsh.


Both Lord Longford and the Bishop of Southwark are now doing their utmost to help the victims of crime. Since in the past their charity has inclined them to hate the sin and love the sinner, rather forgetting the sinned against, this is important. Violent crime is one of the few growth industries in socialist Britain, and they are Christian socialists, both great favourites with the newspapers as well as members of the House of Lords. I hope this clever and charming pair will continue to struggle against crime, and porn, for many years to come, until St Peter takes them over.


Longford: A Biography, Craig, M. Books and Bookmen (1978)
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Style and Laughter


Reading this memoir of my sister Nancy a thousand memories came flooding in of childhood, youth and age; of the fun, the oddities, the loves and quarrels which I suppose every big family knows. Ours was a babel of voices, arguments and laughter, and most of the laughter originated in my father who was to become Nancy’s best ‘character’ as Uncle Matthew.


Do people change as they grow older, and if they do, which of their selves should the memorialist concentrate upon in order to distil the essence of the personality and bring it before those who never knew and never can know from their own experience? Perhaps Nancy changed rather little, less than most people; only the circumstances of her life changed. Harold Acton has wonderfully succeeded in finding the essential Nancy. He has understood her motives. He has understood that ‘laughter was the golden key to Nancy’s heart’, as he says. She could never resist a joke, and she could never resist a tease. Other temptations she resisted. Money, for example, which she needed, greatly loved and successfully earned, and which rightly occupies a large place in this book, she could resist. She was offered immense sums to go to Hollywood for six months, and she refused. It should be added that having earned some money she gave it away with both hands to friends and relations.


Teasing gave her intense pleasure. Like many of the English she loved France and Paris; French food, French clothes, the beauties of the French eighteenth century. But simply to love was not enough, for nobody would be surprised, let alone put out, by that. She wanted people to gasp and stretch their eyes, therefore every other country without exception must be written down in order that France should take its rightful place, hardly upon earth but in a special paradise. Her fantasies and exaggerations where anything French was concerned were limitless. I have heard her describe a very ordinary, if pleasant, Paris flat as though it were both Trianons and half a dozen English stately homes complete with their art collections rolled into one. Rome, on the other hand, was according to her a village with a vicarage called the Vatican. Thus she managed to use her predilection for France as an all-purpose, hard-wearing tease.


If there is such a thing as objective truth Nancy never bothered about it. If she caught one half-laughing at some observation she knew one knew to be hardly in accordance with the facts, she would as a rule laugh too.


She sometimes went too far in her teasing, but she never minded the counter-attack. She was delighted with a letter from an Irishman after her quaint article on Ireland was published. ‘Dear Miss Mitford, Hell would be a more fitting place for you than Ireland.’ Evelyn Waugh, friend of a lifetime, teased her unkindly in a silly book they both contributed to, Noblesse Oblige. But Harold Acton is undoubtedly right when he says this was because of her socialism. Evelyn could hardly forgive her when, in common with a majority of her countrymen, she voted Labour in 1945. It was as if, unaided, she had brought socialism to power in England, and then had promptly gone away to live in France. When the result of the election was declared Nancy was still in London working in the bookshop. Osbert Sitwell flew in, seized the till, and ran out in the street with it shouting ‘Labour has begun!’


In France, a dedicated Gaullist, she could see no fault in anything that happened during the General’s years in office. She remained blind to the ruin of beautiful vistas within Paris due to the savage building of tower blocks exactly where they should not have been. One even heard her say apropos of tower blocks in other cities: ‘That would never be allowed in Paris.’


All this mixture of teasing, loyalty and wildest fantasy was Nancy the romancer, the novelist. As historian she was scrupulously accurate and took great pains to check facts. Naturally, like every historian under the sun, she chose among the facts what it suited her to choose; but she did not invent. As the years went by she wrote better and better; her very last book, Frederick the Great, is a little masterpiece.


The best of companions, with a talent to amuse, Nancy had a real talent for friendship. One of her friends, Violet Trefusis, heroine of the Harold Nicolsons’ ideal marriage, was a great trial to her. She was overjoyed when Violet, perhaps jealous of the successes as a writer she herself had never attained, sent her a furiously rude letter. Telling me of it she said, ‘Isn’t it perfect, now I need never see Violet again.’ A few years later Violet wanted to make up, and telephoned: ‘I’m sorry if I gave offence.’ Nancy: ‘You didn’t give offence, but you did give me an excuse.’ The ideal rejoinder.


After the war Nancy was staying in the Isle of Wight with ‘the Wid’, our great friend Mrs Hammersley, an old lady always swathed in black scarves and shawls. Meat was rationed. ‘We went to the butcher and Wid performed the dance of the seven veils before him and he gave us a cutlet,’ she wrote to me. Harold Acton has quoted extensively from her letters, so that one hears her own voice. He has linked them with a clever and perceptive commentary. He is the dreamt-of biographer, for he was beloved and admired by Nancy for almost fifty years. So unlucky in many ways, her luck in the world of books has held and her biography is exactly right.


What would she herself have thought of this amusing lively book, full of her stories and inventions, her jokes and loves and triumphs, and ending so sadly with cruel pain and illness? I can picture her expression and hear her laugh at her own extravagancies, reproduced by Harold. Like me, she would be deeply touched by his sympathy and affection, and she would shed a tear over her own suffering. After a lifetime of perfect health a rare kind of cancer attacked her. She, who did not like doctors, went from one to another in a vain search for her vanished well-being. Paying one of these doctors his bill she wrote: ‘If I were as bad at writing as you are at curing people I should starve.’ Until the very end, she never lost her love of a sharp joke.


Nancy Mitford: A Memoir, Acton, H. Books and Bookmen (1975)
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Frivolous Rage


According to Nancy herself, at the age of three she suffered an appalling tragedy, the birth of my sister Pamela. Hitherto queen of the nursery, and the adored plaything of my parents, little Nancy found herself relegated to second place, the first being accorded to ‘a screaming orange in a black wig’, as she later described the baby. The nanny had no idea of the frightful trauma suffered by the three-year-old, and our parents still loved her best, blissfully unaware that she was inwardly boiling with rage.


One day they were walking in the street when she began to scream. They were embarrassed and begged her to stop. Passers-by gave them angry glances, as if to accuse them of torturing the dear little curly-haired girl who was making such a noise. A sharp smack might have been a good idea, but my parents would have been incapable of such behaviour. All of a sudden she stopped, stood still and said: ‘The houses are all laughing at me.’ ‘Yes, and can you wonder,’ said her mother, Sydney, ‘so much noise about nothing.’ This was by no means Nancy’s last tantrum, but she had resolved in future to get the laugh in first.


However, her troubles were only just beginning. Next year, and the year after, two more babies appeared: they were my brother Tom and myself. Our nursery was small, the house hardly more than a doll’s house. The ‘pram in the hall’ (as the writer Cyril Connolly used to describe a baby in the house) became ‘the prams in the passage’. The house is still there: Number One, Graham Terrace, London. Four children squeezed into the doll’s house couldn’t have been very comfortable for anybody.


Fortunately, two changes made Nancy’s life happier. When she was six, a nanny who had been unkind to her was sent away, and our beloved Nanny, Laura Dicks, described by Nancy in The Water Beetle, came and stayed until she died years later. At the same time, Nancy was allowed to go to school, the Frances Holland school in our street, in Belgravia. A clever child, she shone at lessons and liked the company of her contemporaries as much as she disliked the babies at home.


School, for her, was synonymous with paradise, and home with purgatory. She prayed every night to be made, in some mysterious way she preferred not to think about, an only child. In case this was too difficult even for God, she had a second prayer. My mother had a rich friend who bought us expensive toys. Nancy prayed that this lady would adopt her.


In 1914, when the Great War began, another baby, Unity, appeared. However, we had by now moved to the country where my father, David, had inherited a large house, Batsford Park in Gloucestershire, from our grandfather, Bertie. Many of the 50 or so rooms were in dust sheets. Any of us who wished to read could choose a room to be alone and undisturbed. I was six, and we were all taught by a French governess we loved and a rather severe English governess. Nancy missed school, but the war was to blame. My father went to the Front, and it all seemed perfectly normal to us, as things do, to children.


Not far away was a military hospital. and the wounded soldiers came to tea, 30 or 40 of them at a time. They were dressed in soft blue clothes with a red cross on an armband. We played cards and puzzles, sang soldier’s songs taught us by our nursery maid.








Oh! The moon shines bright on Charlie Chaplin,


His boots are crackin’ for want of blackin’


And his little baggy trousers they want mendin’


Afore we send ’im, to the Dardanelles.











The idea of a film actor at the Dardanelles was considered very comic by the wounded soldiers. Other songs mentioned place names such as Tennessee and Tipperary—we had no idea they were real places you could find on the map. Towards the end of the war, new countries began to be written about in the papers. We thought the name Czechoslovakia incredibly funny, and Nancy pretended to be a Czech lady with a strong foreign accent. We played this Czech game for years; she was a doctor, or perhaps even a surgeon, and tortured our brother by digging her sharp little knuckles into his ribs. I’ve no idea why it amused us so much, but it did.


When Nancy was about 12 an aunt, Lady Blanche Hozier, a great favourite of ours, had taken her up the hill to my grandfather’s wild garden at Batsford. From this eminence, one could see all Gloucestershire and much of Oxfordshire. My aunt waved her arm and said dramatically, ‘All this belongs to you.’ Nancy rushed to tell our mother the good news. ‘Oh, what utter rubbish,’ she said. ‘Nothing belongs to you.’ Nancy told me she was rather relieved. What could she have done with all those fields?


After the war she was allowed to go to a boarding school, which predictably she loved, and then she was grown up. I think Nancy herself began the legend of having been a tease, almost a bully, to us all. She probably was quite horrid to Pam, but my brother and I had nothing to complain about as children. She was very good company, very funny, rather spiteful perhaps. Her novels abound in wit and jokes, and are enjoyed today as much as 50 years ago. They are Nancy’s gift to humanity.


When she died in 1973, our friend Harold Acton suggested writing a memoir. They had been friends for 40 years and nobody could have done it better. He was the cleverest of our friends, who had been an enormous influence on what has been called the Brideshead Generation at Oxford. Like Nancy herself, he was reserved. In his memoir, he refers to her love affairs in his own way. They were not happy, and he preferred to leave them to a future biographer; he would never have been able, or willing, to do the research. She therefore comes to life in A Memoir as the amusing, rather frivolous person she more or less pretended to be, and, to a great extent, really was.


Nancy Mitford: A Memoir, Acton, H. Daily Mail (2001)
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Building Sights


If I have got an ‘old home’, I suppose it is Asthall. Our family lived there from when I was nine until I was 16, all my schoolroom years. No longer in the nursery when we arrived, I was almost grown up when we left.


Asthall is very far from being a stately home. There is no park, no drive, no view in any direction. It is a charming old manor house, with gables and leaded windows, roofed with Cotswold stone tiles, such as you find in most Cotswold villages. It lies between a hill and the churchyard, the ancient church only yards from the drawing-room windows.


It was rather strange that we lived there so long, since in my father’s eyes it was a temporary dwelling. During the First World War he had inherited a large house with a good deal of land in Gloucestershire. Even we children knew it was to be sold at the end of the war, as we were too poor to live there. And sold it duly was. My father’s dream was to build his own house, on a hill above Swinbrook in Oxfordshire. The village and land belonged to him, and the coverts and shooting he loved were nearby.


Meantime, while the building was going on, we were to live at Asthall, which adjoined his land and was conveniently on the market. Although we were six children, and soon to be seven, we could perfectly well have squeezed into Asthall for a couple of years. But no sooner were we installed than he began to build at Asthall. He built stables, garages, kennels. He built ‘cloisters’ that joined it to the old house. He put more bedrooms there. He made a great barn in the garden into a library and music room. This large room, furnished with hundreds of old books, a grand piano and sofas, with high windows looking south and east, was all the world to my brother Tom and me at Asthall. He played all day, Bach, Mozart, Beethoven, Brahms, and I lay on a sofa, reading and listening. The room was far enough away to disturb nobody. We were allowed to read anything, provided we put the book back where it belonged.


The chief beauty of Asthall was a long, panelled hall with windows on both sides and a fire at each end. We were sheltered from draughts by Chinese screens, black lacquer with enormous white lacquer characters, very old and beautiful. In the dining room were seventeenth-century Japanese screens depicting eagles and other birds of prey on palest gold background. These treasures had been brought from the Far East by my grandfather.


The other end of the hall led to my mother’s drawing room, with my father’s business room beyond. We often sat with him listening to his gramophone.


Our schoolroom was at the bottom of the oak staircase; it faced south, but was always cold. We had an English governess in the term and a French one in the holidays. In the evenings our governess read us one of the Waverley novels, or Bleak House, or The Mill on the Floss. The nursery was upstairs; it was a haven, with our darling Nanny and beloved little sisters. My worst dread was that I might be sent to school, away from ponies, dogs, guinea pigs; above all away from the nursery and its denizens, but I never was.


In the holidays we were supposed to speak French, which resulted in a perhaps not unwelcome silence in the dining room. Visiting children considered us a noisy family, there was no question of being seen and not heard. We argued, teased, screamed with laughter at family jokes, the funniest my father’s.


Sometimes gloom and quiet descended for a while, when my father used to tell us he was ruined. We wondered anxiously where the next loaf of bread would come from. He lost a lot of money trying to farm, but during the Asthall years he also made many disastrous investments, generally the result of talking to some brilliantly clever cove at the Marlborough Club, his London resort. Building was his expensive hobby.


‘You realise you children will have to earn your own livings, don’t you?’ he would say. ‘I can’t give you anything.’ This made our blood run cold. We couldn’t imagine that anyone would wish to employ us. For one thing, we did everything badly. We rode every day, but we didn’t ride well. We played tennis, and went to tennis parties given by children in the neighbourhood, but they played far better than we did. We had music lessons in Oxford, and we went to a dancing class, with mediocre results. Could we even type?


When my father said he could give us nothing, my mother always said: ‘Of course not. Girls don’t expect it.’


It was my mother who made Asthall perfectly lovely inside, she who defended us from my father’s vagaries. He usually disliked our friends, but she was welcoming.


On Sundays my father liked us to go with him to matins at Swinbrook, we preferred evensong at Asthall. Mr Ward, the Asthall vicar, once preached a sermon scolding my father: ‘People who run shouting with their dogs through God’s holy acre,’ he said crossly. (We went coursing on Sundays and fetched the dogs from the kennels; the churchyard was a short cut). We told my father about the sermon but he only laughed.


When I was about 14 the organist left the village and Mr Ward asked me to play the organ. It was a very old organ; a village boy pumped the air into it, and if he stopped no sound came. I knew the service by heart; the little tunes of hymns and canticles were simple, and I knew just when to give Mr Ward his note and how to play the responses accompanying Mrs Ward’s powerful contralto. Occasionally the organ seemed to come alive and emitted squeaks and groans, but I knew it would have to stay quiet when it ran out of air. I used two stops, one for noise, one for pathos.


The Asthall manor was on the edge of the Heythrop country; we were allowed to hunt accompanied by the groom, but only if we rode sidesaddle. My habit, made in Cirencester, was probably not very elegant. I hacked to the meet, almost everyone did in those days.


The years went by, the slow years of childhood. We became very fond of the old house, and wondered if my father had forgotten about his dream. He loved fishing for trout in the Windrush, which flowed by the bottom of our garden. But he spent most of his time in the coverts, shooting in winter and watching the baby pheasants in spring, with his favourite keeper, Steele who, during the rearing season, lived in an old railway carriage in the wood, tending his broody hens.


But my father had another hobby: motorcars. He spent hours at Cowley with William Morris. As he had nothing much to do, it seems a pity, looking back, that he didn’t earn his living by joining this immensely successful firm. It never occurred either to him or Morris, later Lord Nuffield, that his expertise might be turned to gold.


The dream persisted. My father sold Asthall and began to build again. Not just a house; he built cottages, stables, garages, all over again. As though at a loss as to what to build next, he even built a squash court, although none of us played.


How much did we mind leaving Asthall? Speaking for myself, not desperately. We had the same village life, the same Christmas parties for all the children from Asthall and Swinbrook and, although my parents saw no neighbours, there were some we liked. In any case, I was nearly grown up, life was about to begin, real life not dreams in a cold schoolroom. Being so incompetent, so ‘bad’ at everything, no longer seemed to matter.


‘Families, I hate you!’ said André Gide.


We never again had real family life after we left Asthall. We grew up, married; Tom no longer came for endless holidays. We saw each other constantly, but there was no longer the daunting, rather stifling feeling that you knew whom you would see, eat with, quarrel with, ride with, bore and be bored by, laugh with, day after day, week after week. Yet I did miss Asthall, its aged beauty, its terrifying pitch darkness at night, the odd sounds and fresh smells.


Nearly 20 years later my sister Nancy wrote her best-selling novels The Pursuit of Love and Love in a Cold Climate. Her masterpiece was her lifelike portrait of my father as Uncle Matthew. An old refugee from eastern Europe came into Heywood Hill’s bookshop where she worked, to congratulate her. ‘Onkel Matthew!’ he said. ‘He woz my father!’ Rather surprised, she told this to Evelyn Waugh. ‘Uncle Matthew is everybody’s father,’ was his reply.


My father was at his most Uncle-Matthew-like at Asthall. Angry, funny, affectionate, furious, uproarious by turns, and always totally unpredictable. At Swinbrook his gaiety seemed to diminish, and he became almost, if never quite, grown up.


Sunday Times (1997)
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Friends and Fauna


Malicious, witty, sometimes affectionate, mercilessly teasing each other, Nancy Mitford and Evelyn Waugh corresponded for twenty years until his death. Having both sides more than doubles the fun of these letters.


They began to write regularly when she went to live in France. In 1945 Nancy told everyone she had voted Labour, and Evelyn pretended to think she alone was responsible for the grey and dreary England of the late 40s. At the end of the war he had written Brideshead Revisited; it made a lot of money which was snatched away from him by the tax gatherer. Rations became smaller. It was all her fault, and then she deserted the country she had ruined.


The War itself had been a disillusion. He had wished to look upon it as a crusade, but it ended with half Europe ruled by godless communists, while France and Italy seethed with barely hidden civil war.


Nancy was on the crest of the wave. She was in love with a Frenchman, ‘the Colonel’, and she too had written a bestseller, The Pursuit of Love, so that she was rich enough to follow him to Paris. Her marriage to Peter Rodd was on the rocks. She pretended to be living in a land flowing with cream and caviar, and shut her eyes to the shortages of Liberation. Evelyn rebuked her for saying ‘Heavenly 1948’, the blackest year in world history since 1793, according to him. The Colonel was as slippery as an eel, but she shut her eyes to that too. It is all so long ago that shafts of bitter humour, once deleted for fear of libel, can now illumine the scene. The actors are all dead.


Both writers were wildly funny, and the result is an irresistible book. The victims of their unkind jokes are mostly well-known, so that the letters will delight and possibly horrify nearly everybody.


Nancy and Evelyn earned their living by writing; money is a constant theme and worry. Evelyn had a large family to educate; Nancy’s only extravagance was Dior. She implored Evelyn to come to France, but when he did it was seldom a success. He quarrelled with Duff Cooper at Chantilly, and generally made himself objectionable, as only he knew how.


Nancy found this quite difficult to deal with, and their friendship was really based on the letters. They made each other scream with laughter, the shadows were light. All the same, they lengthened: Nancy’s love affair did not prosper, and Evelyn began to feel his Church under threat.


The advent of Pope John XXIII was a sorrow to Evelyn. The reforms of the Vatican Council knocked him flat. He was only 62, and he dreaded the possibility of having to live with these reforms another twenty years. Strangely enough, his desperately sad last letters, in March 1966, were to me. I had asked him a question. He wrote: ‘There is nowhere I want to go, nothing I want to do.’ He died on Easter Day 1966.


The letters are impeccably edited by Charlotte Mosley, an expert on the period and its fauna; she has cleverly solved every puzzle.


The Letters of Nancy Mitford and Evelyn Waugh, ed. Mosley, C. The Times (1996)
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A Monster Greatly Missed


‘He was one of the great prose stylists of the twentieth century’ but ‘as a man he was a monster’. These are the two premises upon which, Selina Hastings says, Evelyn Waugh’s reputation rests. No mention of the wittiest and funniest writer of our time. She has depicted an authentic monster, more monstrous by far than the Evelyn of previous biographers. Drunken, snobbish, insultingly rude; a neglectful son, a bullying father, a quarrelsome friend, an impossible man. Her source is Evelyn himself, who would have readily admitted to this catalogue of sins of commission and omission.


She sees him as a great artist and admirable craftsman, but with a character so flawed by rage and cruelty and so overlaid with deep and selfish boredom that nobody in their senses would want to spend much time with him, however admiringly they read his books. Her biography is beautifully written and fascinatingly told, but something is missing.


If Selina Hastings could have spent one single day with Evelyn Waugh, how enormously she would have appreciated the irresistible charm of the man, the cleverness, the sharply expressed and individual point of view, the wonderful jokes, the laughter!


To take his sins listed above: drunkenness yes, when young, and more drink than was good for him all his life. Rudeness, yes, if people were rude or annoying to him. But the neglectful son had from earliest childhood known that his elder brother Alec was the adored favourite; and the bullying father was moody but often too, the originator of family jokes.


As to the quarrelsome friend, he quarrelled with Henry Yorke and with Randolph Churchill, both alcoholics like himself. All three became prematurely old, decrepit and furiously miserable; bored, literally, to death. All died in their late fifties or early sixties, their lives a sort of temperance tract. His other friends were devoted and life-long.


Naturally the rage and cruelty that were part of his character were exacerbated by drink. At Oxford he was drunk for days on end, which was devastating for his finances, his university work and, ultimately, for his health. Yet all his disasters, all his quirks were put to use by him; nothing was wasted.


His failures at Oxford were distressing to the good old father, who paid his debts but had hoped for a brilliant degree to be followed by a steady publishing job in his firm. He bored and irritated Evelyn, who in order to get away became a private schoolmaster, which produced the hilarious Decline and Fall. His Oxford friendships, much later, were the origin of Brideshead.


Waugh’s raffish London life and failed first marriage went into Vile Bodies and A Handful of Dust; his travels as a newspaper reporter made Scoop and Black Mischief. Even his distressing breakdown, the result of sleeping pills mixed with alcohol, became the brilliant Ordeal of Gilbert Pinfold. And so on throughout life with the war and his appalling disillusions producing his masterpiece, Sword of Honour. His novels are autobiographical, embellished with his uniquely comic genius.


Selina Hastings is perceptive about his religion, to him all important. The final tragedy for Evelyn, far more terrible than the Common Man whose Age he so disliked, was when the foundations of his faith were shaken by the upheavals in the Church caused by the Vatican Council and Pope John XXIII. The common man with a guitar performing in the aisle was more than he could bear.


His quarrel with Randolph Churchill was triggered by their forced intimacy during their mission to Tito during the war. This famous episode is told here to perfection, and is one of the funniest things in a fundamentally sad book: the history of a monster. But such a charming, witty, clever, amusing monster as never was; quite simply the best company on earth.


It is impossible not to think how greatly the author of this brilliant book and her subject would have appreciated one another, and to regret they were not contemporaries.


When Evelyn Waugh died, Nancy Mitford wrote to a friend: ‘I see he is one of the people I have loved most in my life.’ Are monsters so deeply mourned?


Evelyn Waugh, Hastings, S. Evening Standard (1994)
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The Order of the Boot


When W.F. Deedes was not yet Lord Deedes, the doyen of Fleet Street, when he was Mr Deedes, aged 22, he was sent by his paper, The Morning Post, to cover the war in Abyssinia. Advised about what equipment he would need in that faraway country, of which he knew nothing, by enthusiastic shops such as Austin Reed and the Army and Navy Stores, he bought so many things that his luggage weighed a quarter of a ton. Everything was paid for by The Morning Post.


He travelled by train to Marseilles and then by sea in a French boat to East Africa. The Suez Canal was full of Italian ships conveying soldiers to fight and conquer Abyssinia. Deedes took the train from the coast to Addis Ababa, a train reminiscent of English trains today, rather uncertain as to timetable.


He experienced all the usual frustrations of life in a Third World country, but, with his mountain of luggage, he arrived at his destination.


Needless to say, the place was full of journalists, falling over each other to use the primitive means of communication to provide their newspapers with news, but there never was any news. They were not allowed to leave Addis Ababa to go to ‘the front’ and see some fighting, and were far from sure there was any fighting.


The Italians dropped a few bombs here and there, destroyed a few ramshackle houses and killed a few people. The League of Nations was outraged; everybody was outraged.


There are many parallels with the recent Iraq war; the UN was outraged, millions of people took to the streets in protest in England, France, Germany and Italy, but the Americans, like the Italians in 1935, paid no attention to public opinion and quickly and easily won the war.


The Italians wanted Abyssinia for no particular reason. Unlike Iraq, it was not oil-rich, the Emperor Haile Selassie, the Lion of Judah, went into exile.


I believe he lived at Bath. After the Second World War he was sent back to Addis Ababa, where he was murdered and buried in a deep hole under his bathroom.


The hole was covered in concrete, but eventually his body was recovered, and who should go to his ceremonial-burial but Lord Deedes, who seems to love going to Abyssinia. We may be sure none of his visits was quite as enjoyable as his first.


Among the journalists when Deedes was 22 was Evelyn Waugh, aged 32.


He was, at that time, the most perfect companion imaginable. Lord Deedes says he was a real help, as an old Africa hand, and praises his efficiency, although he missed the one and only scoop by being away when it was achieved.


He doesn’t mention the scintillating wit, the wonderfully original point of view of the Evelyn Waugh of those days. He detects the monster, but not, seemingly, the genius.


If, however, his small book about the adversities of being a reporter with nothing much to report sends people back to Evelyn Waugh’s novel, Scoop, it will have been well worth writing, because Scoop is one of the best novels of the twentieth century.


Deedes says he has been identified with Boot, the Candide-like hero of Scoop, but that all they had in common was mountains of luggage. He is surely right about this.


At War with Waugh: The Real Story of Scoop, Deedes, W.F. Evening Standard (2003)
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Harold Acton as a Young Man


When I met Harold Acton in 1928, I was 18 and he 24. His fame among our generation was already great; at Oxford he had been the undisputed leader of the cleverest undergraduates, a well-known apparition disapproved by many, with side-whiskers and huge trousers. A self-proclaimed aesthete, he defended his attitude with clever, malicious wit, as well as the exquisite courtesy which characterized him all his life.


By 1928 there was no longer sartorial oddity, he was tall and dark and soberly dressed, wearing a wide-brimmed black hat. We were guests of John Sutro at a little restaurant near the Strand, Rules. John Sutro brought out the fantastic best in Harold, we talked and laughed for hours. Harold was the cleverest, wittiest, most outrageous person on earth in those days. His voice, his accent, never changed. They made even quite ordinary observations seem unusual, and his wicked malice irresistibly funny. We never stopped laughing when Harold was there, and perhaps such an appreciative audience encouraged him to perform.


At that time he and his brother William had taken a large house in Lancaster Gate; William wanted to deal in furniture, and as his taste ran to vast rococo objects the house had to be big in order to display his wares. Harold was busy writing The Last Medici. He had also written a novel.


William was a dreadful worry to Harold. At Christ Church, having swallowed some drug, he had fallen out of a window in Peckwater Quad, hurting himself badly. His parents’ favourite, they ordered Harold to look after him, which he was quite unable to do. The Actons lived at La Pietra near Florence; very fond of his mother, Harold heartily disliked his father.


My brother Tom loved Harold as much as I did; they had not coincided at Eton, but as they disliked games both had been wet-bobs there, which meant that a boy could spend his summer afternoons on the river, reading or flirting and pretending to row. Harold told us that his little boat had inadvertently been swept over the weir, ‘and my whiff was shattered to atoms’. Tom loved hearing this over and over again. ‘What happened to your whiff, Harold?’ ‘My deear, it was shuttered to uttoms’, said Harold.


He often dined with us, and sometimes a fellow guest was Lytton Strachey, who wrote to Carrington (28 May 1930): ‘Once more Harold Acton figured—I felt myself falling under his sway little by little.’ Nearly everyone fell under his sway.


Harold was the only person who succeeded in being friends with Nancy Cunard without forfeiting the friendship of her mother, Emerald. Nancy and her black lover were often to be seen at Lancaster Gate when visiting London, but if Emerald knew of it she never allowed it to affect relations with Harold, an ornament of her luncheons at Grosvenor Square. As a rule she waited until her guests were assembled before rushing in herself, but one day we were all, including Emerald, waiting for a late comer. When David Cecil was shown into a room where perhaps a dozen people were chatting, there was a moment’s silence while he crept awkwardly towards his hostess, broken by Harold’s slowly enunciated words: ‘The Stricken Deer’. David Cecil had just published a biography of Cowper thus entitled.


Although at his English schools Harold, with his cosmopolitan background, Italianate accent and refusal to join in anything childish, must have seemed a strange phenomenon, he was apparently never bullied or harried. He must have had a very strong character, which in some unusual way kept him entirely immune. We were told that even at his private school barbarity did not prevail, and he recited his poems to astonished children of ten or eleven, provoking a rude reaction. Perhaps his sharp tongue made them a little afraid of him, and his extreme politeness disarmed. He was always ready with a harsh but courteous snub if somebody tried to be rude. A hostile, rather mannish woman whose car had broken down near the house where we were all dining, said to him aggressively: ‘You’re not the kind of young man one can imagine doing things under a car!’ Harold, slowly rolling his eyes, replied, ‘It all depends who with’.


In 1920 his novel, Hum Drum, came out. It was a grave disappointment to his admirers. By a piece of bad luck it appeared at the same time as Evelyn Waugh’s brilliant Decline and Fall. They were reviewed together; nobody praised Hum Drum. As Harold and Evelyn had been at Oxford together, very much in the position of master and disciple, it was a painful episode. As if to underline it, Evelyn had dedicated his novel to Harold. On and off for the rest of his life Harold wrote fiction, but his talent lay elsewhere. His genius was in the brilliant charm and radiance of his personality, unequalled in his generation.


Although The Last Medici had a succès d’estime, Harold was deeply hurt, and decided to withdraw from London and go to live in China, the land of his dreams. He had become a notable figure in London, as he had been at Oxford. His departure was mourned by his many friends, and it was probably hastened by anxieties about William. He took him home to his parents in Florence, a nightmare journey with William threatening suicide.


Harold came back to England in the war and joined the Air Force. He resumed his friendships, and once went for a journey with Evelyn Waugh, ‘our irascible friend’ as he described him in a letter to me. But he found him too difficult, too rude. He himself never changed. He stayed with me in France, and I with him at La Pietra. It is for others to describe him there; I am one of the few who remember the fantastic and admirable Harold of long ago.


Evening Standard (1994)
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Conversation Piece


When the Prince and Princess of Wales visited Harold Acton, the Princess was reported as having said she had never in her life met anyone like him. She was absolutely right. The only person remotely like Harold was his brother William, who died long ago.


Harold was a brilliant talker, whose idiosyncratic voice, with Italian inflections, amused the listener, quite apart from his inspired and malicious wit. William had the same voice. Harold wrote many books, but for some reason they never came up to the expectation of those who had been held in thrall by his conversation.


His memoir of my sister Nancy must be reckoned one of his best books. They had been friends for more than 40 years, ever since he left Oxford. He was born in 1904, and he and his brothers were educated at Eton and Christ Church, but they always seemed Florentine to us. Towards the end of his life he was host at his beautiful villa, La Pietra, to all the world. Everyone visiting Florence expected to be invited by him, and he angelically submitted to being one of the ‘sights’ on no account to be missed.


At school and at Oxford Harold was a poet, and dressed rather extravagantly; his contemporaries looked up to him as a perfectly civilised cosmopolitan paragon. To his friends he was, and remained for his whole life, a source of endless amusement and laughter, as well as a connoisseur of art and literature.


After Harold left Oxford, he and William lived for a time in a huge, ugly house in Lancaster Gate, where William bought and sold rococo furniture. Harold settled down to his writing. At the age of 24, he was already a shining fixed star in the London literary and social world, an ornament of Emerald Cunard’s luncheons in Grosvenor Square, where his presence ensured fireworks and clever repartee such as Emerald loved to orchestrate.


Unluckily, the publication of Harold’s novel Hum Drum coincided with that of Evelyn Waugh’s first novel, Decline and Fall. This was a disaster for Harold, the critics hailing Evelyn. Harold went away to Peking, William to Florence. They left a very sad gap.


Years later, in his Memoirs of an Aesthete, Harold wrote spitefully about Evelyn Waugh, Brian Howard, Robert Byron and Cyril Connolly. He pictures himself as having been the only civilised man among a bunch of backward and boorish Englishmen. Nobody seems to have minded; the attack never reached its target. Harold once described Evelyn Waugh in a letter to me as ‘our irascible friend’. Which is fair enough, because he did become irascible as years went by.


It is a great mystery why Harold Acton, so witty and with such a penetrating understanding, was never able to get his talents down on paper, but it is a fact. In Peking he felt completely at home. He loved everything Chinese and translated Chinese plays, hoping they would be a success on the London stage, which they never were.


He came back to England for the war, and once when I asked him if he would ever return to his eastern paradise, he said no, every one of his friends there was dead. All were mandarins, killed by the communists.


In his Memoirs of an Aesthete Harold pays tribute to William and his talent for painting and drawing. He did vast portraits of his friends, all wonderfully like them, but in an old-fashioned style that ensured the portraits were underrated. His method of painting was to ask his model to allow her head to be photographed from every angle. Then William made rather beautiful pencil drawings, the studies for his paintings. The only other painter I knew who used photographers was Sickert; the results were very different. But fashion is all-powerful, and doubtless William’s amazing facility was a disadvantage. His pictures are not works of art, but they are a faithful record of a whole generation of English women.


The last time I saw William was in the summer of 1940. France was falling, the British army had made its way home via the Channel ports, gloom was on every face. I ran into William by chance in Piccadilly, and we sat for a few moments to talk. ‘What are you doing now?’ I asked. ‘I’m learning Urdu,’ was his reply. He lived in a world of his own, and so, in a way, did Harold.


After the war Harold inherited La Pietra, and a new phase of his life began. He wrote well-received histories of the Bourbons of Naples, he was revered as an historian, as well as as a host and a wit. He and Nancy shared old friends, as well as an old enemy, Violet Trefusis. Their enmity was a great link: Violet was Harold’s neighbour in Florence, and Nancy’s in Paris. In his memoir there is a delightful photograph of her.


Harold changed nothing at La Pietra. The walls were covered with his father’s collection of Italian pictures. Except for them and the villa itself, everything was redolent of 1900, red velvet armchairs with antimacassars. His mother’s bedroom, the size of a large ballroom, where I slept when I stayed with him, had 18 oil paintings of the Madonna and Child on the walls, as well as a large Della Robbia china representation of the same subject.


A great joy for the last 20 years of Harold’s life was that Lord Lambton became a neighbour. They were made for each other, with the same malicious sense of humour. There were screams of laughter from Harold’s dining-room when this fantastically amusing man was a guest. It is sad that conversation is so ephemeral, and brilliant talk so rare. Never can two wits have been more closely attuned, more uninhibited, than they. Both were bibliophiles, art connoisseurs and gardeners.


Harold Acton never changed. I first met him in 1928, and saw him on and off until a couple of years before he died. He never seemed young or old; simply himself. He made a few television appearances, and was an instant star: the beauty of his surroundings, his exquisite courtesy to one and all, and his verbal dexterity.


Harold had no heir, and he hoped to bequeath his estate in Florence to Christ Church or to Eton. Both refused to accept it, incredible as it may seem. He therefore left it to an American university, whose fortunate undergraduates go to La Pietra to study Italian art.


Spectator (2001)
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The Lady and the Tramps


‘Poor old Ott, her wits have gone the way of her bladder.’ Did these cruel and quite untrue words occur in a letter from Lytton Strachey to Virginia Woolf, or to his brother James, or are they apocryphal? If the latter, they not unfairly sum up the way he wrote about Lady Ottoline, his great friend and benefactress. He could never resist a joke, he loved to imagine his correspondent’s scream of laughter, and probably he never thought his letters would be published.


Miranda Seymour’s book is the perfect riposte to the spiteful accounts of Ottoline, which, along with her truncated memoirs ‘edited’ after her death by Philip Morrell, are all the public has been vouchsafed hitherto.


She describes a wonderful, extraordinary woman, who held the love of the cleverest man of her time, Bertrand Russell, to the very end of her life, and the friendship of three generations of writers and painters.


Russell wrote her 2000 letters, many of them passionate love letters, but she refused to leave Morrell. Russell married several times while remaining a great friend.


She had extravagant looks, huge features, ‘a face like a horse’, and she wore what can only be described as fancy dress. Feathered hats were pink, scarlet and orange; silks, chiffons and brocades were made into fantastic clothes. She was six foot tall, and struck everyone with amazement.


As a child I sometimes caught a glimpse of this gorgeous apparition in Oxford, driving her pony cart through streets full of drab undergraduates on bicycles, or choosing stuffs in Elliston and Cavell. She was an unforgettable vision.


I knew her name, and that her country house had been a refuge for conscientious objectors in the Great War, and this in itself made her a heroine for me.


The intellectual friends Lady Ottoline collected at Garsington were monumentally disloyal, ungrateful and ill-mannered, not just Lytton Strachey. He at least never ‘put her in a book’, as all the novelists did—notably D.H. Lawrence and Aldous Huxley—and she was wounded every single time, though she generally forgave in the end. Huxley’s novel, in the window of Blackwell’s, was bought by the Garsington vicar who had met him at the manor. He found a sermon he had injudiciously printed reproduced verbatim as a great joke.


Miranda Seymour shows that Ottoline’s generosity and hospitality were far from easy for her. The Morrells were not rich, and the farm lost money. No wonder, as they who were supposed to work it lay under hedges discussing poetry and philosophy.


Is there another side to all this? Miranda Seymour is right hardly to hint at such a thing, so false was the picture Bloomsbury left. Nevertheless, Lady Ottoline did probe for everyone’s secrets, she did question people closely about their loves and hates. She had powerful charm, and probably her guests often wished they had disclosed less.


I was once told that one Christmas at Garsington they clubbed together to give her a steaming outfit. They never felt their letters were quite safe when she was about. She was so deeply interested in them, she longed to know everything about everyone, and to interfere.


But when all is said, she was a great and unique person, generous, loving, appreciative of art, nature and human oddity, recognizing genius, admiring and fostering talent. She had wretched health and admirable courage, both physical and moral. She herself was a living work of art.


Her daughter, Julian Vinogradov, who suffered from the caricature of her mother in book after book down the years, told me she thought David Cecil’s introduction to a photograph album the best description of her. It is sad that Julian died before this excellent definitive biography was finished.


Ottoline Morrell: Life on the Grand Scale, Seymour, M. Evening Standard (1992)
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Wonderful Arms




If I could have my way, I should go out to dinner every night, and then to a party or an opera, and then I should have a champagne supper, and then I should go to bed in some wonderful person’s arms.





Who wrote that? Lytton Strachey, to Virginia Woolf. Strangely enough, the first time I ever met him part of the fantasy had come true. It was twenty years after, and he had become a literary lion who could have gone out to dinner as often as he chose.


We had been to the opera, and Lady Cunard gave a supper party afterwards for about forty people at a huge table in her upstairs drawing room at 7 Grosvenor Square: I suppose we were too many for the dining room. It was very gay and glittering. Lytton Strachey came and sat next to me, old and mysterious behind his beard and spectacles. I was 18, and not long married. I thought how wonderful and amusing and fascinating he was, and was amazed at my luck and at his condescension in honouring Lady Cunard with his presence at her party and me with his proximity. Writers and painters and composers seemed to me then the princes of mankind; they do still, but I realise now, as I did not in those days, that Uebermenschen can love gaiety and pleasure just as much as ordinary people.


But Lytton’s periodic excursions into the monde were not always a success. ‘Garsington was terribly trying,’ he wrote on one occasion after a visit to Lady Ottoline Morrell. ‘I was often on the point of screaming from sheer despair.’


Many of these letters are bitter complaints about the small miseries of life. Lytton Strachey was delicate and always felt cold; cold during damp English summers, freezing in the winter time. The Bloomsburies had a genius for making themselves uncomfortable. This was not the result of dire poverty; the poorest peasant in central Europe would refuse to put up with such discomfort as they did—he would get himself a stove and keep it burning night and day. When I knew Lytton he was quite rich and had a pretty country house, but I remember how cold it was staying with him.


The Bloomsbury revolt against Victorian values extended to other spheres besides literature and philosophy. No blazing fires or heavy nourishing meals for them; no scrubbed kitchens, shining door-knobs or starched linen. Lord Berners told a story about one of the group whose name I cannot mention because he is still alive.* This Bloomsbury was his host at dinner.




‘Do you like oysters?’ he asked.


‘Yes, very much,’ said Berners unsuspectingly.


‘That’s splendid, because I’ve bought some oysters from a dirty little shop round the corner.’





Leonard Woolf and James Strachey, who have edited the letters, leave dots here and there to spare feelings. This is very tantalising. They have obliged with some footnotes, but probably many people who knew already that Rumpelmayer was a pastrycook might care to be told who Carrington was: dear, faithful friend of Lytton Strachey, whose death killed her with sorrow.


* Clive Bell.


Virginia Woolf & Lytton Strachey>: Letters (1956)
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A Bloomsbury Echo


‘What is to become of all these diaries I asked myself yesterday? If I died, what would Leo make of them? He would be disinclined to burn them; he could not publish them. Well, he should make up a book from them, I think, and then burn the body,’ wrote Virginia Woolf. Leonard Woolf, thirteen years after her death, has made up the book from them; let us hope he has not burnt the body. After three hundred and sixty pages we could do with three hundred and sixty more—no doubt there are fierce things in them about the living, as here about the dead, but if Mr Woolf waits another few years could not a great deal more be published?


As it stands, the book is deeply interesting, the diary of a remark able and gifted woman; written partly, no doubt, as a safety valve for her highly nervous temperament and partly to remind herself of facts and figures connected with her writings, but also to note her thoughts on friends and acquaintances, books and poems, journeys and everyday happenings. One is never conscious of its having been written with an eye to future publication, as one is for example in the Journal of André Gide. She never appears to worry about hurt feelings, or libel; never troubles to pose for an audience. Her judgments are completely honest and candid, and have the freshness and vigour of truth. (Read what she has to say about Lady Colefax, or on a slightly higher level about Lady Ottoline Morrell or Lady Cunard, compare it with the rubbish some other writers have felt obliged to churn out as quid pro quo for hospitality received. She pins them down, drab moths and gay butterflies alike.) She was gifted with the seeing eye; her descriptions are exactly right, there is never a wasted word. Her friends were the cleverest and most gifted of her contemporaries; it was their opinion of her writing that she cared about, even though she could be momentarily cast down by a bad review.


The diary abounds in examples of her talents as critic. After reading Katherine Mansfield’s Bliss: ‘… her mind is a very thin soil, laid an inch or two deep upon very barren rock’ (this in 1918, when Katherine Mansfield was being hailed as a new Chekov). Of Byron: ‘The truth may be that if you are charged at such high voltage you can’t fit any of the ordinary human feelings; must pose; must rhapsodise; don’t fit in. He wrote in the Fun Album that his age was one hundred. And this is true, measuring life by feeling.’ Of Paradise Lost: ‘I can conceive that even Shakespeare after this would seem a little troubled, personal, hot and imperfect. I can conceive that this is the essence of which almost all other poetry is the dilution. The inexpressible fineness of the style, in which shade after shade is perceptible, would alone keep one gazing into it, long after the surface business in progress has been dispatched. Deep down one catches still further combinations, rejections, felicities and masteries.’


The art of writing was her chief passion; but the following shows her close observation, and curiously aloof sympathy: ‘Saw and heard the Salvation Army making Christianity gay for the people; a great deal of nudging and joking on the part of very unattractive young men and women; making it lively, I suppose; and yet, to be truthful, when I watch them I never laugh or criticise but only feel how strange and interesting this is; wonder what they mean by “Come to the Lord”. I daresay exhibitionism accounts for some of it; the applause of the gallery; this lures boys to sing hymns; and kindles shop boys to announce in a loud voice that they are saved. It is what writing for the Evening Standard is for…’


The Woolfs owned the Hogarth Press; they were offered Ulysses and refused it—a curious parallel to Gide’s refusal, for the NRF, of Du Côté de chez Swann.


Most of the chief Bloomsbury figures are dead. Virginia Woolf, Lytton Strachey, Roger Fry, Maynard Keynes—they did not live to a great age, they never reached the Grand Old stage of an earlier generation. But some of the younger ones are still alive, and here is the first volume of David Garnett’s autobiography. In it he describes his upbringing, with the typical background of the future Bloomsbury; the intellectual parents (Constance Garnett, a translator of genius, was his mother); the liberal, rationalist opinions; the famous friends; the cranky food; the sofa propped up with books; the solid discomfort. Excellent writer that he is, readers of The Golden Echo will eagerly look forward to the next instalment; hoping, meanwhile, for a new novel after too many silent years.


Were the Bloomsburies as parochial as the name suggests? Roger Fry proclaiming the merits of post-impressionism to Edwardian London was an interpreter; Lytton Strachey, E.M. Foster, Virginia Woolf and David Garnett are artists, whose books will be read as long as there is anyone left to enjoy the ‘combinations, rejections, felicities and masteries’ of the English language which they all know how to employ.


A Writer’s Diary, Woolf, V.; The Golden Echo, Garnett, D. (1953)
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Nervous Endings


The second volume of Mr Garnett’s autobiography is a less polished success than The Golden Echo; in places it reads almost like notes for somebody’s memoirs rather than the finished product. Nevertheless the book has virtues, of which the chief is that the author tells tales and anecdotes about his clever friends and contemporaries the Bloomsburies which marvellously bring them to life. If, at times, the narrative seems jerky instead of running on ball bearings, it may be that it cost him a good deal to write about the war years which must, in some ways, have been a disagreeable time for him.


Unless he is buoyed up by particularly strong political or religious beliefs there is no doubt that, for a healthy man in the twenties, the position of conscientious objector in war time is a difficult one, even if he belongs to a group of clever and like-minded friends which forms a cushion between himself and the outside world. (Mr Garnett spent part of the 1914 war with Frankie Birrell working behind the lines in France among Quakers, and the rest with Duncan Grant as a labourer on a Sussex farm, where he stayed with Vanessa Bell.) That simple people may suspect him of cowardice is the very least of the complicated feelings which he must have about himself and about the attitude of others towards him. Keynes, for example, the only member of the circle to take part in the world of action, faithfully gave evidence for all the Bloomsburies of military age at their Tribunals, and was obviously a great help in getting them exempted from fighting. Yet there was a ‘painful scene’ at 46, Gordon Square when ‘the conversation turned on conscientious objection and Maynard declared that he did not believe anyone had a genuine conscientious objection. If he said this to exasperate Vanessa and Norton he certainly succeeded.’


In Mr Garnett’s case the result of these tensions seems to have been that he suffered from nerves and angst. Not until a few years after the war, when success came to him, did he become once again the delightful person he was in The Golden Echo.


Many of the best Bloomsbury sagas are told. There is the Garsington peacock, named Argus by Aldous Huxley, which got carbuncles and conveniently died in December 1917 and was roasted for Christmas dinner; when the guests were violently sick. Lady Ottoline said it was an appendicitis epidemic. And Lytton Strachey’s evidence when he came before the Tribunal for conscientious objectors, where he was accompanied by his whole family: The Military Representative was inspired with a flight of fancy and asked: ‘What would you do, Mr. Strachey, if you saw an Uhlan attempting to rape your sister?’ Lytton looked at his sisters in turn, as though trying to visualise the scene, and gravely replied in his high voice: ‘I should try to interpose my own body.’


The Flowers of the Forest, Garnett, D. (1955)
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Past Notes from a Spirited Puritan


In her nineties, the last of the Bloomsbury group, Frances Partridge, has produced a delightful book, full of indiscreet gossip, amusing stories and fascinating journeys. There is something for everyone in these diaries, far and away the best she has bestowed upon the public.


Sharply observant, she gives a lyrical description of restored Warsaw and St Petersburg, enjoying every moment despite the bitter cold. Then there is a calm visit to David Garnett in his French cottage with its pastoral setting, walks in woods, hunting for wild flowers, talking about the past.


In Italy she goes on a rather frenzied tour with Dadie Rylands and Raymond Mortimer, visiting cities, palaces, cathedrals and museums, almost too much beauty; Raymond is rather tiresome with his schoolmaster-like comments forced upon his companions. For her journeys abroad she chose her companions well on the whole, not as easy as it sounds. Spain was perhaps her favourite country.


Back in England life was very different. Strikes galore, rubbish in the streets, electric fires sadistically fading during ‘cuts’, torch batteries and candles unobtainable: London in the early 1970s became almost as uncomfortable as it had been in the war.


All Frances Partridge’s friends were ill, some desperately so. She herself is a widow mourning her clever husband as well as their only son, who died in his twenties, yet she flies to comfort her ailing contemporaries. Her greatest friend Julia Strachey, always neurotic, at this time goes completely mad. The account of the descent into hell of the charming, intelligent Julia is frightful and sad as only the truth can be. It is a relief when Julia herself insists upon enmity where once had been deep friendship. Frances was getting to the end of her fund of sympathy when she was forced to abandon the terrible task to others.


There is a close-up view of many a broken marriage, when she is called to help in a situation where there is never much hope. There are also happy marriages, Heywood and Anne Hill for example, and visits to the Hills and Anne’s eccentric brothers for the Aldeburgh Music Festival.


Two snowy Christmases she stayed with the David Cecils, another happy pair. David Cecil talked himself and everyone else into a stupor, and when Frances retired to her room she heard the Cecil voices rising uninterruptedly through the floorboards.


Very naturally, she dreads the Bloomsbury-hounds, and the cinema and television absurdities, pretending to tell the ‘truth’ about her famous friends and making a hash of it. But these talented and articulate people are not really at risk.


Frances Partridge reveals herself, as diarists always do, from Pepys to Chips, from André Gide to Alan Clark and James Lees-Milne. She is a puritan who responds to beauty. She hates war, cruelty, stupidity. But she also hates luxury, grandeur, and even, almost, comfort. She fails to see the superb beauty of Houghton, within and without. Or if she sees it, she cannot approve. She says aristocrats are arrogant, picking on one lady, Kathleen Stanley, who was the kindest of women.


Her Puritanism just occasionally shows the tip of its ear, as the French say. Perhaps it is one of her virtues. Be that as it may, her book deserves the success which it will surely have.


The Diaries of Frances Partridge: 1963-66, Partridge, F. Sunday Times (1998)
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Lifelong Fit of Giggles


Here are the scrapings of the barrel, more or less everything left behind by Henry Yorke (for that was Henry Green’s real name) when he died. Much of it is well worth preserving: interviews, unperformed television plays, chapters of unfinished novels, scenes of family life half-truth half-caricature written in the merciless and sardonic way he had. Henry Green’s grandson has edited these literary remains, putting them in chronological order. It is easy to see influences—Kafka, Henry James—but from the beginning Green’s was such a distinctive voice that only he could have written these pages.


Greatly admired in his lifetime by other writers, Waugh, Auden, Isherwood, V.S. Pritchett for example, there will probably never be a school of Henry Green. As he himself said of Joyce, his style, his jokes, his marvellous dialogue were his alone.


He might have echoed Gide’s cry: ‘Familles! Je vous hais!’ There is bitterness in the way he describes a boring family evening, father and mother bickering and two sulky sons leaving them to it. There is a fantasy about a giant who appears in the park at Petworth. Henry Green’s eccentric Wyndham uncles and aunts see him out of the window and are half terrified, half outraged. How to get rid of him? The butler is sent out, but is blown into the lake. Finally the giant goes, but not before bellowing that he had come there hoping to hear the family engaged in intellectual conversation.


There is a biographical chapter by Sebastian Yorke, Henry’s son. He describes his father’s delight in minor disasters and how amused he was when things went wrong. He may have looked upon life itself as one long sick joke. Yet for his friends he was one of the most delightful men of his talented generation.


Surviving, ed. Yorke, M. Evening Standard (1994)
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Fluttering Wings


‘Dearest Maud, dearest Primavera! I do not know what primavera means, or if I have spelt it sufficiently for you to recognize the word. It means Spring, doesn’t it? It means joy, the joy of green leaves with the flutter of wings among the leaves. And you, dearest, mean all these things to me, for you are not, I am convinced, a mere passing woman but an incarnation of an idea… You are at once the poet and the poem, and you create yourself not with silks and pearls, though these things are beautiful upon you, but by your intense desire of beauty and life.’


‘I gave you all the love I was capable of. I never cease to think of you…’


The first passage quoted above was written by George Moore when he was 52 and had been in love with Lady [Emerald] Cunard for ten years. The second he wrote twenty five years later. His love for her lasted from their first meeting until his death forty years after. She destroyed most of his letters; all that remain are in this volume.


Lady Cunard was a great admirer of George Moore’s books; he was a fervent admirer of her astonishing personality. ‘To Maud Cunard,’ he wrote, ‘a woman of genius. Her genius is manifest in her conversation, and like Jesus and Socrates, she has refrained from the other arts.’


The audience for this marvellous, intelligent, inconsequent conversation was formed by her luncheon and dinner guests, and although she invited clever men to her house some of the company was not as amusing as it was fashionable. ‘There are people about that are of no interest to me, as little intelligent they seem as squeaking dolls,’ complained George Moore.


None of Lady Cunard’s letters to her faithful admirer have been found, yet her portrait is clearly seen in his to her, from her marble eyes and gold hair, to her worldliness, her love of music, her brilliance. She would descend unexpectedly upon the old writer in Ebury Street, like a bright humming-bird, then rush away leaving a purple orchid for him to treasure.


She was everything that he could never be, and as he sat year after year writing and rewriting and revising his books, there is no doubt that she brought him something uniquely precious. He was, naturally, a little bit jealous. ‘I was glad to see you brightening as usual the lives of dull people,’ he once wrote, with a nip of sarcasm.


Letters to Lady Cunard 1895-1933, Moore, G. (1957)
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Beauty Betrayed


If Mary Pickford was the world’s sweetheart, Greta Garbo was the world’s goddess. She had perfect beauty and a rare acting talent, and unlike any other actress before or since she hated publicity in private life, refused to be photographed and evaded fans, autograph hunters and the Press.


Cecil Beaton was in every way her opposite. He loved and courted publicity, made his fortune from it, and kept endless scrapbooks into which he pasted every passing reference to himself in the English or American papers. He longed to meet Garbo, and having met her he longed to marry her. It would have been the all-time publicity coup.


Years later, he proposed. She wisely refused; both were homosexual, and in any case she would have loathed his social life, climbing (in his own opinion) ever higher, loving the lighted candle, luxury, success, people. She stayed with him in Wiltshire and told him he was hag-ridden; the hags were his mother, too fond of the bottle, and his lesbian secretary Maud Nelson. He noted in his diary every detail of their friendship and their intimacies, and finally betrayed her by publishing it in her lifetime. It was a dreadful thing to do by any standards, and strangely enough he realized this himself, but his desire to be known to the world as lover of the most beautiful woman in the world was too strong to be resisted. Diana Souhami describes how as publication drew near he suffered a sort of agony; at that very moment, absurdly enough, he was given a knighthood, and the pleasure he got from being a Sir was blighted by his apprehension about Garbo and his diary.


Some years previously Greta Garbo’s lesbian friend Mercedes de Acosta had similarly betrayed the star. Badly needing money, she wrote memoirs and described a mountain holiday she had with Greta, six weeks when nobody knew where they were, the address a secret. It was this episode which sold the book and made Mercedes de Acosta a little money. She was never forgiven. Even when she was dying, in hospital, Greta Garbo refused to visit her.


Cecil Beaton, on the other hand, she did visit, grown old and bald and half paralysed by a stroke. Made furious by the diary, years had passed, and she went down to Wiltshire to say goodbye to her tiresome old friend. There were probably two reasons for this somewhat uncharacteristic behaviour. First, Garbo knew Cecil Beaton so well that she cannot have been surprised by what happened. Where his narcissism was concerned, he had no sensitivity, or even good manners. But secondly (something missing in this fascinating book) Cecil’s redeeming feature was laughter. ‘Give me the bonus of laughter,’ wrote John Betjeman in a poem at the end of his life. It was impossible to be with Cecil for half an hour, let alone half a lifetime, and not be convulsed with laughter. A look came into his face and he would say something in his drawling, braying voice which was inexpressibly funny. It is an important part of the man, who should not be remembered as the rather villainous creature depicted here. Among the illustrations in ‘Greta and Cecil’ Garbo is seen laughing with Cecil. There cannot have been many of these perfect moments in her Hollywood or her New York life. Perhaps she forgave his disgraceful behaviour because he had amused her so much. The best possible reason.


Greta and Cecil, Souhami, D. Evening Standard (1994)
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Impotent Comforts


Gerald Brenan lived to a great age; he was a prolific correspondent to friends and relations, who kept his letters. Very tempting to a biographer. Jonathan Gathorne-Hardy has not resisted, his book (although fascinating) is too long.


Many of the letters are full of what Cyril Connolly called Brenan’s ‘naïve sexual boasting’, which embarrassed those who did not realize the agonies of a sensitive man to whom ‘doing what comes naturally’ was a near impossibility. He was often impotent.


Born in 1894, he hated his father and his barbarous boarding schools, and they are blamed for his complexes. At 18 his one idea was to escape, and free himself from his constricting background. With a bohemian friend, Hope Johnstone, he planned to walk to China. Telling a few lies, and with a few pounds, he ran off.


He met Hope in Paris, and found happiness, discomfort, hunger and danger. They slept in barns, or inns where the beds were alive with bugs, stole vegetables to eat and could well have died of hunger and cold when winter came. Hope gave up at Venice, but Brenan pressed on, until ‘one dark evening in a snowstorm on a Bosnian mountain, I turned back’.


By letter, he bargained with his father for freedom to live in his own way. The parents were by then longing to compromise; he went home. He was 20 in 1914; he became a brave soldier, and at the front made friends with Ralph Partridge. It was a stormy friendship, because the love of Brenan’s life, the painter Dora Carrington, married Partridge. But the most important thing that happened after the war was his long visit to Spain, chosen for its cheapness. All his best books are about Spain, South From Granada a classic. He suffered from jealousy over Carrington, but she, Lytton Strachey and various writers stayed with him in his primitive cottage in the sierra.


He married an American poet, had endless unsatisfactory affairs with hippies and nymphets, and read enormously. The Spanish civil war and Second World War he spent in England, then back to Spain for the rest of his life, his writing at last beginning to sell. Fortunately his wife Gamel shared his love of discomfort; they had no bath or lavatory and on their travels stayed in flea-ridden inns.


The Spanish Labyrinth is his great book on Spain, and Gathorne-Hardy’s chapter about it is, next to his account of the walk, the best thing in this enormous biography. There are several harrowing cancer deathbeds, that of Brenan’s wife beyond bearing. All are culled from frightful descriptions in letters to long-suffering friends.


His own death—when, after a short spell in an English old people’s home, the Spanish claimed him as their own and took him back to Andalusia—was at the age of 92.


When Strachey was dying, in 1932, Carrington seemed intent on suicide, and Ralph Partridge sent for two of her lovers, Gerald Brenan and Tommy Tomlin, hoping in vain they might induce her to live.


Probably not many people now alive knew the brilliant Stephen Tomlin, a sculptor married to Julia Strachey.


Strange that in this ‘stupendous mass of paper’ even his actual name should be omitted. True, he was known as Tommy, but Stephen Tomlin was a considerable artist and personality.


The Interior Castle: A Life of Gerald Brenan, Gathorne-Hardy, J. Evening Standard (1992)
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A Sponge for All Seasons


Evelyn Waugh, his chief tormentor, called Cyril Connolly ‘a droll old sponge’, and that he certainly was. This excellent biography brings him wonderfully to life. His grotesque appearance, his velvet voice, the successes as a schoolboy that won him all the prizes at Eton, making Oxford drab by comparison, the knockabout turn of his marriages, the sloth and greed which gave him permanent angst but which he lacked the will to curb. It is not a sad life nor a wasted life, even if authorship of a masterpiece eluded him; he will be remembered as a brilliant critic, editor and personality.


The Unquiet Grave was no more than a commonplace book containing his nostalgic thoughts about Paris and the Mediterranean when war immobilized him in London; flawed by much that was rather absurd and irritating, it nevertheless echoed the feelings of his generation at that time.


All his life he was surrounded by adoring women, and never more so than when, financed by Peter Watson, he edited Horizon during the war. Lovely and devoted girls did the hard work of producing the magazine, ministering to him they fed him with honeydew.


He was capable of imaginative sympathy. Meeting a boy who had like him been a King’s Scholar at Eton and was doing his military service soon after the war, the description of his basic training so horrified Cyril that he told him to write it all down, and published it in Horizon. Balm for the unwilling soldier. Connolly was dogged by poverty. His first wife, Jean, had some money, but the other wives had none. He and Jean were perfectly suited, her income was enough for their bohemian way of life. Dining with them was hazardous because of their pets; ferrets cannot be house-trained. When she left him because he was ‘impossible’, he mourned her loss on and off for the rest of his life.


His wit and clever conversation made Connolly a welcome guest, but he was not always asked twice by fastidious people. One host complained that he marked his place in borrowed books with bacon rind. He wrote brilliant reviews for the Observer until he quarrelled with the priggish owner, and subsequently for many years the Sunday Times, an excellent paper in those days. He promised endless books to eager publishers, but rarely wrote them.


Towards the end of his life he was invited to Austin, Texas, for an exhibition based on his ‘100 Best Books’. Expenses paid and a large fee, it was a recognition by America of his eminence as man of letters. Austin has an unrivalled collection of modern English books and MSS. He was happy to accept and was enjoying every moment until the cataloguer of Evelyn Waugh’s library, a recent acquisition, asked him to solve some conundrums of place and identity. Connolly’s eye lit upon Waugh’s copy of The Unquiet Grave, and he could not resist looking inside to see what had been written in the margins. The brutal rudeness and dismissive jokes he found ruined his visit. ‘For the rest of my stay in Texas I remained obsessed with Evelyn’, he wrote. Waugh teased him even from the grave.


Connolly died, as he had lived, beyond his means. He left a huge overdraft at the bank; his rich friends generously paid up.


The photographs illustrating this delightful book are so badly reproduced that one succeeds in making the attractive Jean look uglier than Cyril himself, while Railway Club members seem to be hardly human.


Cyril Connolly: A Nostalgic Life, Fisher, C. Evening Standard (1995)
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Enormous Huts


In July 1928 I went accompanied by Nanny, to stay at Bailiffscourt. This was a piece of country by the sea in Sussex which the Guinnesses [future in-laws] had bought a couple of years before; they had saved it from speculators who had planned to ruin the entire coast.


Bailiffscourt itself was a small farm-house at Climping, notorious as the home of Colonel Barker, a woman who pretended she was a man and married a Brighton girl. We loved this story which had filled the newspapers and I was considered very lucky to be going to see the place formerly hallowed by the presence of Colonel Barker. I soon discovered, however, that one must not mention Colonel Barker at Bailiffscourt; her name was taboo and Lady Evelyn preferred to forget that she had ever existed.


Lady Evelyn Guinness, her children, their Willoughby cousins, and two nurses lived in the Huts. These really were huts, made of pitch pine and set on brick foundations. They smelt deliciously of raw wood and salty air. They were planted down in the middle of a cornfield, and at the bottom of the field was the sea. There was a quite exceptional glare in summer outside the Huts; the flat treeless landscape, the enormous sky, the ripe corn and the sea reflecting back the light of the sun almost blinded one.


Lady Evelyn, like Farve, was a builder. She was going to build a very strange house; already her mind was full of her plans for it, but meantime the family put up in the Huts. Bryan and I wandered about the fields or sat on the beach. Sometimes we all went for a picnic on the Downs. When we reached the chosen spot the drivers of the cars unpacked a huge tea, a frying pan, a pat of butter, and eggs. ‘Diana’s so clever, Mummy, she can cook,’ said Bryan, bursting with pride.


‘I’ve never heard of such a thing, it’s too clever,’ said Lady Evelyn in her whispery little voice.


‘I can’t really. Only fried eggs. Anybody can do fried eggs,’ I said modestly, but Lady Evelyn and the nurses took up the refrain. To cook! It was too wonderful.


At that time she was in her early forties; a very pretty, slight, fair-haired and blue-eyed person with a very tiny voice. Her voice was not exactly soft; it was more like a miniature hard voice, scarcely audible. She never raised it. She had a ferocious collie called Lady which bit men visitors. ‘Lady! Lady! What do I see you doing?’ Rather naturally, Lady never noticed this reproof, what with her own growls and the exclamations of her victim.


Lady Evelyn loved wild flowers growing among the corn and did her best to encourage them. Not only in the fields near the Huts were poppy and cornflower seeds strewn in profusion; all the way down in the train from Victoria to Arundel she would lean out of her carriage window in springtime, scattering weeds and seeds as she went. ‘I’m afraid Walter doesn’t quite approve,’ she told me. Walter, Bryan’s father, was Minister of Agriculture.


Lady Evelyn was on our side, but said she could not write to Muv and Farve. ‘I shouldn’t dare,’ she whispered. While Parliament was in recess Bryan’s father was away on his yacht—far away. He did not go to the Mediterranean, but to distant, savage lands.


In September he was expected back. Lady Evelyn and the children left the Huts and went to Heath House, Hampstead. ‘I wish we could stay on at Bailiffscourt,’ she said. ‘Such beautiful weather. But I must go at once because of Christmas.’


‘Christmas, Lady Evelyn?’ I cried. ‘But that’s three months off!’


‘Oh yes,’ said Bryan, ‘but it takes Mummy a good three months to do her Christmas. In fact she’s really at it the whole year.’


This astonished me so much that I asked Rosalie and Pink McDonnell about it one day. ‘Aunt Evelyn’s Christmas is terrific,’ said Rosalie. ‘In fact Uncle Walter can’t stand it. He always leaves England the moment Parliament rises because of the Grosvenor Place Christmas.’


Colonel Guinness, who turned up eventually, had a long talk with Bryan. I was invited to stay at Heath House; Bryan met me at Paddington and drove me to Hampstead. When we arrived his mother was gardening. She was walking along a path with a watering can, watering it here and there, if that is the word, with milk. ‘Mummy’s encouraging the moss’, explained Bryan.


The garden was quite big by Hampstead standards; it looked rather sad. Ugly tufts of murky, untended grass and weeds sprouted everywhere, there were over-grown hedges with holes and gaps in them, and not a flower was to be seen except the odd dandelion and thistle. ‘Mummy can’t bear garden flowers,’ Bryan told me. ‘She only likes wild ones, and of course they don’t do very well in London.’


Lady Evelyn pointed vaguely here and there. ‘You can’t imagine what a perfectly ghastly pergola there used to be,’ she said, adding in a horrified whisper, ‘And there were hideous roses—in beds.’


Inside, Heath House had also been transformed to Lady Evelyn’s taste, and one saw what Bailiffscourt would eventually become.


Colonel Guinness seemed not to notice either the garden or the house. He talked about politics, people and health.


‘What! No vitamins?’ he said when I refused some raw carrot. The food was excellent; we ate it off a worm-eaten refectory table. I felt very shy of Bryan’s father. He was kind but distant to me; but he had promised Bryan to write to Farve.


Every evening we dined early and went to a play. In the mornings Lady Evelyn did her Christmas shopping, and in the afternoon she scattered milk over the grim garden.


Farve gave in and we were officially engaged. I spent my time between Swinbrook and Grosvenor Place, where the Guinnesses returned in October. Lady Evelyn shopped all day now, as there were only about seventy shopping days till Christmas.


Grosvenor Place was like Heath House only much, much more so. When you approached the great, ugly Victorian imitation of a French château and walked up the steps the door opened at once. This was the work of George, the door man, who sat all day watching the entrance from a little window in the porch. He was by way of being clumsy. ‘Did George knock you down?’ was Lady Evelyn’s first question when one arrived. George led the way across a dark hall with stripped pine panelling to the lift, which looked like a tiny medieval closet. The lift whizzed up several floors and was opened by a nursery-maid. Tea, and in fact most of life, was spent in Grania’s nursery. Lady Evelyn herself slept in one of the night nurseries. The day nursery was a large cheerful white room with a bright fire, plenty of toys and books, and sofas covered in chintz. While the rest of the house was almost pitch dark, lights blazed in the nursery. Lady growled and made little dashes, but she only bit men guests; Raymond and Edward Greene, great friends of Lady Evelyn, always came to Grosvenor Place wearing riding boots because of the collie.


If one arrived for luncheon or dinner George handed one over to the head parlourmaid and the full oddity of Grosvenor Place was unfolded. The downstairs rooms were lined—panelled is not the word—with rough, blackened wood. The fires were encouraged to smoke and smoulder, because the effect Lady Evelyn wished to create was that of a house so ‘early’ that chimneys had not been invented. The furniture, besides refectory tables black with age—or with simulated age—one did not always quite believe in the Grosvenor Place furniture—consisted of dozens of Spanish chairs, of various sizes but similar design, a strip of dark, hard leather for the back, another for the seat, with many a rusty nail to catch a stocking here and there in the crumbling wooden frame. The lamps were made of bent pieces of iron holding sham yellow candles with yellow bulbs of about five watts shaded in thick old parchment—tallow, not wax, was the note.


On the tables were pewter pots containing bunches of grasses and wild flowers, and there were polished pewter plates and dishes to eat off. The forks had two prongs. The pewter things were made by Day, the head chauffeur, in a garage. He had given up driving and spent his whole time making more and more pewter plates, because Colonel Guinness liked to have dinner parties of over a hundred people. Lady Evelyn thought entertaining a tiresome bore, but she did it for his sake, only insisting that there must be enough pewter for everybody. To have had to fall back on silver or china would have been too humiliating.


On the day of a dinner party the cars went out of London at dawn, crowded with maids; when they got to the country they filled baskets with cow parsley, grasses and buttercups and then hurried back to London and changed into their medieval gowns made of stuff with a pattern of wild flowers on it, to be ready by the time the guests began to arrive.


The guests behaved rather badly; they all pretended to get hay-fever from the floral decorations. I sat next to Philip Sassoon at one of these dinners; he was quite furious because Lady Evelyn could just as well have had orchids everywhere instead of cow parsley and moon daisies, and gold rather than pewter. He loudly disapproved of her eccentricity.


Grosvenor Place had two of everything because it was numbers 10 and 11 knocked into one house. One of the big staircases was entirely taken up by Murtogh’s slide. After a visit to a fair he had said to his mother: ‘Why can’t we have a slide from the top of the house to the bottom?’ and immediately a beautiful, polished wooden slide was built and fitted on the staircase. Everybody, not only Murtogh, played on the slide. It was a marvellous idea perfectly executed.


Lady Evelyn’s father was still alive. His only son, Uncle Ronny, was a bachelor of about fifty. He was charming and rather eccentric; he believed in the Hidden Hand and the Jewish World Plot. Colonel Guinness had no patience with Uncle Ronny’s pet theories, but as he was a member of the government Uncle Ronny deluged him with literature about them which went straight into the waste-paper basket.


As soon as our engagement appeared in The Times, wedding presents began to pour in. When the presents were all arranged Lady Evelyn looked at them reflectively.


‘The glass will be the easiest,’ she said. ‘It only needs a good kick.’ She said silver was much more of a problem. ‘Walter and I had such luck, all ours was stolen while we were on our honeymoon.’


All I remember of the marriage service is that Tom had got hold of a wonderful trumpeter who filled the church with triumphant sound when the choir sang Handel’s ‘Let the bright seraphim in burning row’, and that the clergyman pressed his hand on my head so hard that the rickety wreath and veil arrangement almost fell over my eyes.


Lady Evelyn was a vision in cream velvet trimmed with sables. Just as we were going away Bryan rushed over to where she was standing and threw his arms round her. ‘Good gracious, Bryan!’ she said, in the little voice usually reserved for Lady.


From A Life of Contrasts, Mosley, D. (1977, 2002)
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Blenheim’s Eccentric Duchess


Gladys Deacon, whose classic face is carved in stone on a sphinx at Blenheim, was an American child living with her parents and sisters in Europe when an appalling drama struck the family. Mr Deacon had long been jealous of his wife’s friendship with a certain Emile Abeille, and convinced that the two of them were locked-in together in her room at the Splendide Hotel at Cannes, he got the hotel secretary as witness and they broke open the door. Mrs Deacon, despite a bed which had clearly had two people in it, pretended she was alone; but Mr Deacon, candle in one hand and revolver in the other, saw a shadow in the adjoining sitting room and shot through a little canapé, mortally wounding the unfortunate Abeille, who was crouched behind it. The trial was at Nice, and Deacon was sentenced to one year in prison, of which he served a month. It was one of the most sensational crimes passionnels of the nineteenth century.


Mr Deacon went back to America and Mrs Deacon reverted to her maiden name of Baldwin, but everyone knew who she was, and the little girls could never appear without somebody whispering the dreadful tale. They grew up with it. Gladys was eleven in 1892 when her father shot her mother’s lover.


Mrs Baldwin was soon installed at Caprarola, a palace near Rome, by her lover Prince Doria; but neither Roman nor Parisian society would receive her. As they grew up the girls were so beautiful and clever that they proved irresistible. Their mother longed for them to make ‘good’ marriages. Gladys in particular was brilliant, and Marcel Proust said of her: ‘I never saw a girl with such beauty.’ Her friends were writers and artists and intelligent people, many of whom were more intrigued than shocked by the old scandal.


When she was 40, after his marriage with Consuelo Vanderbilt had been annulled in Rome, Gladys married her lover of many years, Sunny, ninth Duke of Marlborough. What did she see in him? He was unprepossessing. The answer must be ‘a duke’. Thenceforward a slow, steady decline began for Gladys. She had a disastrous face-lift; it left her with mouth awry and a chin which looked like a collapsed balloon. She was extraordinarily brave about this, in fact she behaved as if she had never looked in the mirror. She never referred to it, even obliquely.


In her first years at Blenheim she continued to see Paris friends as well as English friends. Daphne Fielding has used pages from the Blenheim visitors’ book as end papers; in 1921 Sunny and Gladys’ guests were Etienne de Beaumont, Princesse Winnie de Polignac, Mrs Keppel, Professor Lindemann, Lord Berners, the Duke’s first cousin Winston Churchill, Princess Marina and her parents, and many more. Yet inexorably the sky darkened. Was Gladys a little mad when she gave her clergymen’s luncheon, to which all the incumbents of the Duke’s livings were tactlessly invited together? It was the talk of the neighbourhood. Gladys was not well looked upon, nor was the annulment of the Duke’s first marriage.


Gladys had a French accent and she rolled her R’s. ‘Have you rrread Thrrree Weeks?’ she asked my father. ‘I haven’t read a book for three years,’ he replied in Uncle Matthew vein. Lady Ottoline Morrell, not far off at Garsington, declared that Gladys was ‘the most interesting character in Oxfordshire’.


As time went on she showed signs of becoming more eccentric, and the Duke began a series of friendships with ladies young and old; he loved dancing, which exasperated her. She indulged her passion for Blenheim spaniels in such a way as to wreck carpets and floors in the palace. She and the Duke parted company in bitter anger, not long before he died. Gladys retired to a farm in the Midlands; she called herself Mrs Spencer. Journalists who sought her there got a douche of cold water poured over them from an upper window.


A long night began for Gladys. She preferred not to see friends. Soon after the war the local police, worried by the strange old hermit she had become, made her relations come from abroad to visit her. She was certified insane. Daphne Fielding, a friend from former days, visited her many times in the hospital. She gives a touching account of Gladys; the ravaged chin and mouth had become normal, so that once again she had ‘the face on the sphinx’. A beauty, whose unusual intelligence changed to madness, she lived on into extreme old age; pathos personified.


When she died last year aged 96 her possessions were sold for more than seven hundred thousand pounds; there were pictures by Toulouse Lautrec and Degas, her portrait by Boldini, beautiful jewelry, all relics of her youth and now immensely valuable. Knowing her as I did, I do not think she would have been either surprised nor particularly pleased by this financial tribute to her taste. She knew she was ‘wonderful’, and cared nothing for the world’s opinion. But she would like Daphne Fielding’s book, which ensures she will not be forgotten, and tells so well the story of her mother’s drama, a drama that marked Gladys’s life.


The book is splendidly illustrated; the photograph of the tenth Duke in his coronation robes is alone worth a fiver. He looks like a giant Dutch doll with a cigar in its mouth and a coronet on its head.


The Face on the Sphinx, Fielding, D. Books and Bookmen (1979)
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And the Rich Filed in Two by Two


Edith Chaplin always thought of herself as a child of the Highlands, says Anne de Courcy. Perhaps she did, but this fey side of her nature was under control, and everyone else thought her the epitome of worldliness. She was the very image of aristocratic magnificence as she stood, with her somewhat Dutch doll-type solid good looks, smothered in jewels from head to foot, to receive the Tory faithful at the top of the stairs at Londonderry House. A nabob ancestor had brought enormous diamonds from India, ‘given’ by a maharaja.


The Londonderrys were both 21 when they married; the extremely attractive husband was the love of her life; the best thing about her was her absolute loyalty to him, despite his innumerable infidelities.


Tremendously rich, beneath his land were vast coal mines. The great coal owners in England were the Arabs of the nineteenth century, with the same love of display, and of horses and racing.


Lady Londonderry was an organiser of outstanding ability, getting cohorts of women to do war work in both wars. She was a noted gardener at Mount Stewart in Ireland, and she hunted several days a week in the shires. Lord Londonderry loved hunting and shooting, but he loved politics more. What with women, sport and Parliament, she saw little of him, and her biographer has a mass of letters to draw upon. It was Ramsay MacDonald, her great friend, who gave Lord Londonderry office in the National Government, Tory in all but name. For MacDonald, Lady Londonderry was glamour personified and he adored her. She was quite fond of him, for all his whining self-pity and embarrassing compliments, until the day he ceased to be prime minister, when the boredom became too much for her and the gorse at Lossiemouth lost its charm.


To his great credit, Lord Londonderry was one of the few who realised an airforce might be vital to Britain’s survival. At the same time he did all he could to foster Anglo-German friendship, visiting Germany and inviting Goering to stay at Londonderry House for the coronation in 1937. Goering refused.


The Londonderrys had one son and four daughters. There were fusses over weddings, two of the girls marrying in register offices: one bridegroom was divorced and the other of Jewish faith. Lady Londonderry wanted a church, preferably Westminster Abbey.


Her clever son Robin had enormous sympathy with the miners, who had been treated abominably by the government in 1926 after the strike, and who provided the family’s bottomless purse. He married a lovely girl who died tragically of cancer not long after the Second World War. Robin also died, several years before Lady Londonderry.


These deaths are not mentioned in the book, a strange oversight, since they must have touched the mother.


What about Circe? Lady Londonderry had an ‘ark’ of celebrities, given silly names, invited to Londonderry House for childish games and champagne. She should have been Mrs Noah, but Circe was preferred. A mystery for she turned none of her guests into swine. Anne de Courcy has written a very interesting book about how things were for the very rich in the first half of the century, including a clear if rather biased précis of the politics of those days.


Circe: The Life of Edith Marchioness of Londonderry, de Courcy, A. Evening Standard (1992)
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Catty Musings of a Living Doll


Gift shops sell little dolls dressed in crinolines, covered in white lace with a rosebud here and there; they have white silk hair, rosy cheeks, ruby lips and black eyelashes. They are bought by misguided people to hide their telephones. Cynthia Gladwyn was one of these dolls to the life, with plenty of crinolines in her wardrobe. Her hair was silvery white while she was still quite young; she was very pretty in her doll-like way.


I suppose I must declare an interest. She says in her diary that I am evil. Is this libellous? Is it true? There is a saying: the greater the truth, the greater the libel, which is rather tempting, because it takes the wind out of the sails of the defence, were I to sue.


Cynthia herself was as good as gold and far from stupid, despite her insipid appearance.


For years her husband, Gladwyn Jebb, was our ambassador in Paris, and Cynthia really loved the splendid embassy and appreciated her enjoyable life there. She wrote a book about the house and strangely enough asked me to review it in Books and Bookmen; it was very well done.


She is endlessly gushing in her diaries: ‘Quite the most exquisite… quite the loveliest… quite the kindest… quite the cleverest….’ On the other hand she can, on occasion, be fairly catty. My sister, Nancy Mitford, loved clothes; she is described as wearing a dress not only too expensive, but also as coming to pieces, an unfortunate combination.


There are some interesting pages about the 1956 Suez fiasco because Anthony Eden and Selwyn Lloyd, when Prime Minster and Foreign Secretary, stayed with the Jebbs in order to cook up with their French counterparts their bright idea: that the Israelis should invade Egypt, and then the peace-loving English and French should separate the antagonists, while Nasser fell from power. Jebb was not invited to these mad plottings, as he should have been. He could have introduced common sense and have warned that essential secrecy would never have been possible with Fourth Republic French politicians. Needless to say, all was ‘leaked’. Described by Cynthia Jebb from the sidelines, the whole affair, including Eden’s and Lloyd’s lies to the House of Commons, is described in all its pristine oddity. These were bad times for England; and for Europe, with Hungary bashed by the Russians.


The diary is full of that evergreen favourite of gossip writers, the Royal Family. The author likes and admires all the right royal ladies and gentlemen, and is cold and disapproving about the duds, never putting a foot wrong or hazarding an original view about any of them.


She is essentially naïve, and quite unconscious when England’s wittiest man, Lord Lambton, is sending her up. She may recognize evil, but doesn’t always see a joke.


The diary ends in 1971, with the Gladwyns keen Liberals who are beginning to wonder whether their leader, Jeremy Thorpe, is truly in the Gladstone mould.


Their son, Miles Jebb, has edited the diary, and described his mother’s old age in a preface.


The Diaries of Cynthia Gladwyn, ed. Jebb, M. Evening Standard (1995)
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He Achieved a Rare Perfection


‘Envious dry blankets who did not know him, and those who read of his luxury and the world of beauty with which he could afford to protect himself… can think what they like, the dreary form-fillers… they cannot be expected to understand the pleasure and thankfulness those people feel who had the privilege of his friendship,’ wrote John Betjeman in The Listener when Gerald Berners died in 1950. He was the funniest, cleverest friend anyone could wish for, and the most loyal and sensitive. David Cecil said he was the best-read man he ever knew.


As Mark Amory makes clear, he was never an intimate friend: reserved, shy, buttoned up. The only child of a dull, foxhunting mother and a clever, sarcastic father who was seldom at home, he was born in 1883 with a gift for music. Nobody sympathized; occasionally a guest played the piano and his first passion was for Chopin. His mother and his schoolmaster actively discouraged his music, hoping he might take to sport and games. At Eton he became ill, and these hated activities were forbidden by the doctor.


His Dame allowed him to play the piano, and go out sketching. He loved the beauty of Eton, and after he read a synopsis of The Ring and acquired the score, he lived in a fantastic world of gods, dwarfs and heroes.


A profession loomed. Diplomacy was chosen and Gerald was delighted to go abroad. He loved France, and in Dresden was taught how to write down his music. In his memoirs he describes a wonderful Christmas at Weimar, with glühwein, paper caps and the singing of Stille Nacht. Mark Amory has discovered he never spent Christmas in Germany; therefore much of what we think we know about his youth is fantasy, written when he was old. Perhaps his mother was not as dim as he pretends—it was she who bought Faringdon—the perfect small eighteenth-century house with a view of half England from its five drawing room windows.


Gerald failed the Foreign Office exam, a blessing. Instead of being sent to some outlandish place he spent happy years in Rome as honorary attaché at our Embassy. He adored Italy and made friends with avant-garde artists in Rome and Paris. In the 20s he inherited Faringdon, but he kept a house in Rome.


In about 1933 he met the Mad Boy, Robert Heber-Percy. Some said he first saw him swinging on a chandelier in a Munich hotel. Gerald was not fifty, a well-known composer from whom Diaghilev had commissioned ballets; his music was admired by Stravinsky. He invited Robert to bring his horses to Faringdon; Robert hunted, and efficiently ran Gerald’s farms. He was no longer lonely in the country; the Mad Boy was sometimes outrageous, but never dull.


One year in Rome Gerald wrote a story about a girls’ school, The Girls of Radcliffe Hall. He was headmaster, the ‘girls’ were Cecil Beaton, Oliver Messel, Peter Watson, and Robert, the heroine. The book has not worn well. It depended on the ‘girls’ crushes and jealousies, comic at the time.


At Faringdon he painted, wrote memoirs and composed The Wedding Bouquet, with words by Gertrude Stein and choreography by Frederick Ashton. It was produced at Covent Garden, with Constant Lambert conducting. The war came, and made him sad. Europe, his paradise, tore itself to pieces. Music cannot be bombed, but everything else was at risk. He shut Faringdon and went to live in Oxford. His depression deepened, he had some sort of breakdown. He wrote Far From the Madding War, very funny but a biting satire.


Back at Faringdon once more he almost recovered, and lived for several years sharing delicious food and the beauty of his surroundings with many friends. In those days of rationing people such as Cyril Connolly, who lived in London, thought of nothing but food. Gerald and Faringdon achieved a rare perfection.


Mark Amory has cleverly captured the essence of Gerald Berners: his professionalism in music, his generosity and genius for friendship, his teases and jokes and sure sense of values. He was broadminded about everything except pomposity.


Lord Berners: the Last Eccentric, Amory, M. Sunday Times (1998)
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Battling for Beauty


Are diaries ‘true’? Jim Lees-Milne’s are a long and fascinating novel, of which he is the charming, companionable and unpretentious hero. As he gives his characters their real names, and is as frank as he is observant, the diaries have probably wounded quite a few readers. They are sometimes true and sometimes invented, just as novels are. This sensitive man seems never to have imagined anyone might mind his strictures and jokes.


Here he is in his late sixties, thinking death is just round the corner. So many friends died, hardly a week without a painful loss. Yet he had 20 years to live. Although fond of them, he never spared his old friends, freely expressing his horror at what age had done to them. Some were shrunken and bent, some immensely fat like collapsed puddings, nearly all smelt rather horrid. He resolved to be very clean, an antidote to inevitable change and decay. He himself remained an elegant figure, and when he was over 80 my sister Pamela, seeing him stride across a field, said, ‘Doesn’t Jim look just like an undergraduate when he walks!’


As a young man, working for the National Trust, he did more to save England’s beautiful country houses than anyone else has ever done. He deserved every honour England has to bestow, but, needless to say, he was neglected. Deeply religious, he was a Roman Catholic convert, but returned to the Church of England after Vatican II and because the Pope forbade birth control, as he here explains.


Those who knew him well are aware that he left huge chunks of his life out of his diaries; they are highly selective, like all novels. Pepys wrote his diary in shorthand so that ‘my wife, poor wretch’ should not know what he did with barmaids. Tolstoy hid his in his boot, he was taken ill, his boots were pulled off, Countess Tolstoy found it and read it and the fat was in the fire. Jim could have left his diary anywhere. If Alvilde had read it she would have found only eulogies and affection, all perfectly genuine. Theirs was a happy marriage; they liked the same things and, almost always, the same people.


All through his diaries Jim relates jokes and oddities, and in this volume is a comic masterpiece: his journey to Mount Athos with Derek Hill. After the usual Greek buses and rocking boats stuffed with peasants and their livestock, there were customs and form-filling, Derek telephoning an important monk to little avail. Once on the magic mount the horror of the expedition became clear. Carrying heavy knapsacks, they struggled up steep rocky paths to the monasteries. They slept in dormitories with other pilgrims, in iron beds with dirty, hairy rugs. They washed in a trickle of cold water in a filthy basin with no plug. The lavatories were so terrible that Jim remained constipated. The refectories produced beans floating in oil and hunks of dry bread; no butter or eggs because cows and hens are forbidden on the sexist mountain. The few decrepit monks prayed all night, the churches were too dark for a glimpse of Byzantine treasures, and they were not allowed to see Mary Magdalen’s left hand, though an icon which had come on a beam from Palestine, taking 300 years, they did see. Tourists were few, and the beauty of Greek mountains and sea and ruins was like living in a Claude. But they squeezed themselves with alacrity into a jeep full of monks, to avoid a tiring climb. Sharp turns and bumps made the monks fall in heaps, losing their tall hats, their buns of hair coming down; it sounds worse than a vaporetto in the Venice rush hour. One monastery offered lumps of delicious Turkish delight: Derek took two. Jim liked the pious atmosphere, unchanged since the sixth century. But what about the jeep and the telephone? Robert Byron loved it 70 years ago despite fleas, but he was in his twenties.


In November Jim came for a last visit to me in France with my sister Debo. We had a delightful evening, but next day he felt deathly ill and they had to rush home; he died a few weeks later. He was brave to come. He was nearly 90, and we had been friends since he was 11.


Jim was a pessimist. He predicts here that we shall be living in a Marxist hell within ten years. There will be no more hawthorn in May, no hedgerows, the farmers will have bulldozed them. All the trees will have died, not just elms but oaks, beeches, sycamores. Twenty years on, none of these disasters has happened. But he lived for beauty, and his whole life was dedicated to saving what is left.


Through Wood and Vale, Lees-Milne, J. Sunday Times (1998)
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High enough on the Ladder


A gossip writer’s job is an intensely disagreeable one. He is abused either by his friends and acquaintances for betraying confidences, or else by the newspaper which employs him for failing to betray them. In this tricky school Mr Driberg learnt his métier, and his book about Lord Beaverbrook is a perfect illustration of the gossip writer’s dilemma. This time it is his readers who may complain that not enough is told, while it appears that the victim feels he has told too much—‘a hostile biography’. Over all hangs the threatening cloud of the English law of libel, which as usual spoils the fun.


The two most interesting things in Lord Beaverbrook’s life are (1) how he became a millionaire before he was 30 and (2) how he built up his group of newspapers and made another vast fortune with them. Mr Driberg deals briefly with these matters, but at great length with his former employer’s pursuit of political power. Three times in his life Lord Beaverbrook enjoyed a modicum of power: when he was active in the intrigues which made Bonar Law leader of the Conservative Party in 1911 and replaced Asquith with Lloyd George in 1916, and again in 1940 when Churchill harnessed his energy (for he is a human dynamo) to aircraft production. During the remainder of his career he has been on the outskirts of politics, and while the autocratic rule he exercised over his newspaper empire was real enough, the power it conferred was illusory.


For like Hearst in America, it was power he wanted, and, also like him, he apparently thought he could reach his objective through his newspapers. Both men imagined that X-million readers represented X-million supporters in the struggle for political influence. They were wrong. American politicians were terrified of Hearst’s support, which invariably proved fatal to them. Possibly at this moment Sir Anthony Eden would welcome a return to the time when he was daily abused in the Beaverbrook press. The more frenziedly the Daily Express shouts an opinion the more decisively (it sometimes seems) do its readers reject that opinion.


Between the wars Lord Beaverbrook’s ambition soared. His invariably successful opponent in the Tory party was Mr Baldwin, who was neither so rich, nor so clever, nor so energetic as he, and who owned no newspapers. What had Baldwin got that Beaverbrook lacked? He was an educated man; but Lord Beaverbrook’s enemy of later years, Ernest Bevin, had probably less education than the press lord himself. Presumably the answer is that Baldwin’s character and principles were acceptable to the public, and that Lord Beaverbrook’s (even had he not hobbled himself with a peerage) were not.


Many people, reading this book, will be amazed to learn that he ever for one moment set his hopes so high. Nevertheless, looking back over the years, it is no wonder if he feels surprised at the extent to which political influence eluded him. Possibly he even now imagines that his newspapers guide their readers’ thoughts and actions. Yet the fact remains that however good the racing tips, however witty the Osbert Lancaster drawing, however exciting the strips, however unconsciously funny Mr John Gordon may be, the readers of these delightful features pay no attention when they are ordered to vote for X, Y and Z, and are very apt instead to vote for A, B and C. As to the proprietor’s vendettas, his likes and dislikes and policies, they are so kaleidoscopic and unpredictable that the public, though much entertained by his newspapers, does not take them seriously.


Mr Driberg’s book would probably have been more successful had it been less thoroughly bowdlerised. As it is, though cattiness pervades it, the scratches are slight. If (as is possible) he had the power and the desire to wound, he has been frustrated; thus the title of his book has a double meaning.


Beaverbrook: A Study in Power and Frustration, Driberg, T. (1953)
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Fellow Travellers


Evidently Mr Tom Driberg finds poor fat grubby chain-smoking communist Guy Burgess a more sympathetic subject for biography than he found rich energetic transatlantic bossy buccaneering Lord Beaverbrook. Nothing could exceed his tender regard for the former unless it be his spiteful resentment of the latter. Guy Burgess, of course, is not a man calculated to arouse either envy or malice; he is too far down the ladder.


Mr Driberg relates of him that he so much dislikes violence and cruelty that he ostentatiously turned his back when a boy was beaten at school. It may seem strange that someone so sensitive about the barbarous practices of his own countrymen should be so insensitive to the vast organised cruelties of Soviet Russia; but perhaps he simply turns his back again. The child father to the man?


Burgess appears to have disclosed little or nothing that we did not know already from Cyril Connolly’s book, from Petrov, and from the reluctant Foreign Office White Paper, about the case of the ‘missing diplomats’. It is curious that the Daily Mail should consider extracts from Mr Driberg’s book the scoop of the decade, or of the century, I cannot remember which it was supposed to be. Surely not on account of Burgess’s sentimental and amateurish little sketch of a night view of Eton College chapel from Luxmoore’s garden—likely, no doubt, to evoke tender memories in some of the Daily Mail’s Etonian readers, but of small interest to those educated at other schools?


As to his visit to Sir Winston Churchill at Chartwell during the Munich crisis, we do not require to be told by Mr Guy Burgess what Sir Winston thought about war with Germany. It will come as a surprise to nobody. ‘I hope to be employed again,’ he is quoted as saying, and Mr Driberg comments: ‘it has been forgotten how completely down and out politically, Churchill at that time seemed.’


‘You know, Tom, living in a socialist country does have a therapeutic effect on one,’ says Mr Burgess, and he goes on: ‘In London I was lonely for the important things—I was lonely for Socialism.’


I hope Mr Driberg’s bad luck in having his little whitewashing effort published just now (he could not have been expected to guess what his Russian socialist friends would be about)* will not put him off trying to get another scoop next time he spends his summer holidays in Moscow. Maclean’s story might be interesting, if he would tell it. But perhaps he is not seedy enough, or silly enough, to arouse Mr Driberg’s sympathetic interest.


* Burgess and Maclean emerged in Moscow in 1956 after vanishing 5 years earlier. Burgess: A Portrait with Background, Driberg, T. (1956)
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Inches Apart


In the 20s it was fashionable to attack modern youth (the grandparents of today). Whenever news was scarce, journalists filled up their paper with articles about short hair, long hair, short skirts, outsize trousers—all, according to them, symbols of decadence and immorality. Undergraduates outraged the older generation by having their trousers made several inches wider than had hitherto been thought modish for men, and this was supposed to be the outward and visible sign of their unmanliness, irresponsibility and laziness. What a contrast, said the journalists, with their elder brothers and uncles who had fought in the war a few years before.


Christian Scientists have a theory that to speak of illness, or of pain, brings it about by ‘making a reality’ of it; similarly, believers in magic are careful not to mention undesirable phenomena for fear of attracting them, of the word becoming flesh. Perhaps these ideas are not so fanciful after all. Certain it is, that modern youth in the 30s made a reality of the reputation which had been given to the post-war generation; though strangely enough they were not much attacked for it, the newspapers were bored with the subject by the time they arrived on the scene.


Mr Toynbee, in his memoir of two friends both of whom were killed in the Second World War, makes the period 1934-40 (so near in time, so different in essence, to the 50s) live again. Friends Apart is a text-book for parent-baiters; but it was not only their parents and respectable acquaintances who were exasperated by the uninhibited anti-social behaviour of Mr Toynbee and Esmond Romilly. The highly disciplined Communist party, to which they naturally turned in their revolt from bourgeois society, also failed to make them conform and found them intractable material, useless for its own purposes. Perhaps they did not become Communists because of any positive ideological agreement with Communist political theory, but for the same reason that they stole dozens of top hats from Eton boys while they were in chapel. He only does it to annoy, because he knows it teases….


Years have passed since then; the Toynbee parents’ ugly duckling has grown into a swan. He writes so well, remembers so accurately, is so Rousseau-esque in his candour that his book is, in its way, a minor work of art. The two friends are dead; Esmond Romilly was only 22 when he was killed, Jasper Ridley not much more. Who can say what would have become of them, how they would have developed? The child is father to the man, and neither can be judged by the years of Sturm und Drang which link them.


Friends Apart, Toynbee, P. (1954)
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Such Desiccated Old Chestnuts


The Macmillan family of publishers came from a croft on Arran Island, as Harold Macmillan, prime minister, allowed nobody to forget. Humble origins are quite common, but there is something special about an island in the Hebrides. Life was so very primitive and uncomfortable, to exist at all such a tough business, the surroundings so dramatically beautiful, that it is quite in order to boast about it for one hundred and eighty years.


In 1816, when their son Daniel was three, the Hebridean ancestors moved. He and his brother Alexander, through apprenticeships and hard work, were the founders of the firm. Their favourite motto: ‘Except ye repent, ye shall all likewise perish.’ Religion, work, love of books and all the Scotch puritan virtues made their success. Daniel died of TB aged 44, his brother and partner lived until 1896 and became rich. Daniel was grandfather of Harold Macmillan.


The account of this persevering though delicate family’s rise is well done, but the half of the book devoted to Harold Macmillan is very disappointing. It is a twice-told tale and the addition of vulgarities cannot disguise the fact that we know it too well. Huge biographies and autobiographies have left no gaps. Davenport-Hines says in his preface that private papers were denied him. He therefore resorts here and there to guesswork. He guesses that Harold Macmillan disliked his bossy American mother, though Macmillan says he owed everything to her.


When Macmillan marries Lady Dorothy Cavendish the book takes off and becomes an extended gossip column. Again, no surprises. Stories about the eighth Duke of Devonshire can hardly be said to have much to do with Macmillan, or even with Lady Dorothy, who was only his great-niece. Yet here they are, the most desiccated of chestnuts.


As we all know, Lady Dorothy fell in love with Macmillan’s contemporary and fellow MP Bob Boothby. Her youngest child, who died long ago aged 40, was by him. This well-documented affair may have fuelled Macmillan’s ambition, and he got to the top of the greasy pole. ‘Suez’ in 1956 was misconceived; once a vital British interest as gateway to India, it had not been so since Indian independence in 1947. For our secret ally Israel, Egypt was highly important. Macmillan was belligerent, then backed down. He and Selwyn Lloyd lied blue to the House of Commons about something supremely unimportant, Macmillan almost choked with indignation. He was a great actor.


He lived to an immense age, for twenty years a widower. His hobby was talking; he talked and talked. Anne Fleming wrote he was ‘a crashing bore’. But he did not bare his teeth aggressively, as Davenport-Hines says he did. When he bared his teeth he was trying to smile. It was just that they stuck out too far.


The Macmillans, Davenport-Hines, R. Evening Standard (1992)
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Seizing the Passing Day


Why do people keep diaries? Because they enjoy doing it, most likely; the theory that they hope thereby to achieve immortality is a bit far-fetched. No need to ask why people read them, for they are irresistible; and this applies just as much to diaries obviously written with publication in view as to those like Samuel Pepys’s, written in code, which give at any rate the illusion of being strictly private. A person must be a quite exceptional bore if having faithfully recorded his life day by day he nevertheless cannot amuse his descendant who chances upon the neglected manuscript gathering dust in an old trunk, even though a stranger might put it on the fire for being too dull.


For family peace it is as well that diaries, like wine, should be allowed to mature. The Tolstoys were inveterate diarists, and Countess Tolstoy, whenever she could find it, always read her husband’s diary and never liked his references to her or his descriptions of their quarrels, so that bitter resentments developed. In order to preserve it from her prying Tolstoy took to hiding it in his boot. One day he had a heart attack and she lovingly put him to bed and pulled off his boots. Out fell the diary. She pounced upon it and one of their worst rows followed. Tolstoy should, like Pepys, have invented a secret code.


Most modern French writers keep diaries and publish them from time to time, and very entertaining (and doubtless profitable) they are. Gide’s Journal wears better than his novels; Julien Green confesses himself to his diary and his readers never tire of his spiritual odyssey; Montherlant’s Carnets display his pessimistic view of human baseness and also the random thoughts of a remarkable mind; the Mauriacs, father and son, are also among the many who have given their diaries to the world in their own lifetime; both are readable, François Mauriac extremely so. As to Eckermann, it is hardly fair to include him among favourite diarists. On every page of his Conversations with Goethe there are marvels of imagination and perception which make his book one of the great books of the world, but that is because Goethe is a genius of the first water.


At the other end of the scale was a lady’s diary read out in court a few years ago at a public enquiry concerned with a damaging leak of secret information which had occurred in the financial world. Doubt was cast upon entries like ‘Went to the hairdresser’. It was suggested this must really mean something rather sinister, but in the end the judge accepted that it was the echo of an empty mind.


In Dear Diary Brian Dobbs confines himself to English diarists, describing and giving snippets from a rich variety beginning with Pepys and Evelyn down to recent times with Lady Cynthia Asquith, ‘Chips’ Channon and Harold Nicolson. His book whets the appetite and reminds one that the literary executors of both Lady Cynthia Asquith and Virginia Woolf must be persuaded to vouchsafe further thrilling instalments. So far tantalisingly little of either has been published. Mrs Woolf was extremely spiteful about her friends and enemies, but the few remaining Bloomsburies must be hardened to insults, since the two great biographers of Bloomsbury, Michael Holroyd and Quentin Bell, have neither of them troubled to pull any punches, and one more battering could not matter much.


Evelyn Waugh’s diaries are in a different category. Presumably if he had not meant them to be published he would have destroyed them; nevertheless they give a totally false picture of this brilliant writer, who in real life was so dearly loved by his friends. However much these friends may be bruised by his bludgeon, it is Evelyn himself who comes off badly.


Of Mrs Sidney Webb and her amusing diary of political gossip Brian Dobbs says: ‘there seems to be a modern tendency to sneer at her’, and for this he blames her nephew Malcolm Muggeridge. This is unfair. Mr Muggeridge in his dazzlingly brilliant autobiography described Mrs Webb sitting on Mr Webb’s lap. It must have been an unforgettable sight—she tall and handsome, he ‘at once repulsive and ridiculous. His tiny tadpole body, unhealthy skin…’ (not Malcolm Muggeridge’s description of Sidney Webb, but Mrs Sidney Webb’s own). Not only has Mrs Muggeridge published an excellent life of her aunt, but Mr Muggeridge gives the wonderful old pair high marks for worthiness. It is just no good pretending they had not also got a comic side; it is one of their charms.


When Harold Nicolson was writing his life of George V he was given permission to read the king’s diary. He hurried to Windsor in a fever of excitement only to find that the whole subject matter concerned the weather, temperature and rainfall. When one considers the stirring times King George had lived in, it puts one in mind of Louis XVI’s entry for 14 July, 1789: ‘Rien.’ However it would not do for royal personages to write Tolstoyan diaries about family rows, or even to divulge their deep thoughts about their ministers, or give their true opinion of a Command Performance at the Palladium, and perhaps ‘rien’, or ‘scattered showers heavy at times’ are the ideal diary entries for monarchs.


Mr Dobbs’s book is very enjoyable, beautifully printed and cheap. There are one or two odd things in it. Why should Lord Ponsonby be turned into a bogus-sounding foreign nobleman by being called Baron Ponsonby? And why is the expression ‘getting to the top of the greasy pole’ in politics attributed to ‘one Conservative ex-minister’? Why not say Disraeli?


Dear Diary: Some Sketches in Self-Interest, ed. Dobbs, B. Books and Bookmen (1974)
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Vita’s Fruity Climbing Disaster


There are several V. Sackville-Wests. There is the galumphing land girl of the First World War who felt free because she was wearing breeches. There is the ferocious sapphist who ran away with Violet Trefusis, described in Portrait of a Marriage, the funniest book since The Diary of a Nobody, with the delightful farce of the two husbands turning up at a hotel in Amiens where the ladies were hiding, to tear their wives apart and force them back to hearth and home.


Then there is the breathless snob, staggered by her noble origins and the grandeur of Knole in The Edwardians, and the middle-aged lady, still in breeches, making a beautiful garden and writing garden notes for the Observer fifty years ago, telling how to grow lilies from seed and other useful hints. The notes are gathered into this book. Far the nicest Miss Sackville-West, but is she reliable?


Not altogether. She told Observer readers they should plant climbing roses to run up all fruit trees no longer bearing fruit. I had four such trees, two apples, a pear and a peach. I planted as advised and within two years all four trees had fallen leaving the roses without support. An orchard disaster.


In Your Garden, Sackville-West, V. Evening Standard (1996)
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The White Linen Brigade


The heroine goes mad in white satin and the confidante goes mad in white linen. That’s life. Ladies in waiting on the whole belong to the white linen brigade, even if they cannot always be dignified by the name of confidante. The duller the Court the plainer the attire and the more tedious the role.


For hundreds of years it was well worth while to be as near the Monarch as you could possibly get. Power and patronage resided in the person of the King or Queen; there was endless opportunity for intrigue, for lining your pocket and for contriving the advancement of your relations. The game was dangerous. ‘Off with her head!’ frequently brought a promising career to a premature and bloody close. This was naturally the case when the lady had royal blood and could be a rival who might attract a following in the country.


The greatest Queen, Elizabeth, the virgin queen, wished all her ladies to be virgins too. She vetoed many a marriage and was furiously angry when nature took its course and her attendants produced illegitimate offspring.


In good King Charles’s golden days the Court resembled, on a poorer scale, that of his cousin Louis XIV. Many of the court ladies were his mistresses and the mothers of newly-created dukes.


His niece Queen Anne accorded real political power to her adored Sarah Churchill, as well as riches. But Sarah happened to be married to a genius, quite rightly created Duke of Marlborough. Put not your trust in princes; Sarah was ousted from royal favour, the Duke was stripped of his commands and even the building of Blenheim Palace was stopped. It was only finished after Queen Anne died and George I came to the throne. There was a sort of poetic justice in the fall from grace of the Marlboroughs due to the whim of a silly queen, for John Churchill who had hitherto owed everything to James II changed sides on the eve of James’s battle with his son-in-law William III. James, in exile at St Germain, would have witnessed the altered fortunes of the Churchills owing to his daughter’s vagaries with grim satisfaction, had he lived a few years longer.


As it was considered essential for royalty to marry royalty there were always quarrels and troubles at Court between the English and the French, Spanish or Portuguese ladies brought over by the consorts of our kings. In the eighteenth century the ladies were German, because henceforward Germany furnished consorts of both kings and queens, who were obliged to marry Protestants. More and more ladies in waiting were English, which removed a source of infinite annoyance from the Court. The Duke of Windsor remembered that when he was a child the moment the English courtiers had gone out of the room the royal family comfortably relaxed and spoke German.


Queen Mary was the last queen of royal birth, and even she started life as a Serene and not a Royal Highness. Queen Victoria was as sensible about this lapse from tradition as she was about so much else.


Although they now get virtually nothing, no profitable monopolies or other perquisites, let alone any political influence, there is never a lack of ladies ready and willing to sit up half the night answering letters, or stand for hours during ceremonial occasions, or leave their husbands and children for months at a time, in order to attend the Queen and other royal ladies. Explain it how you will it is a fact, and they become completely devoted as time goes by.


During the Great War George V allowed no wine or spirits at Court, which did little to enliven the atmosphere. His son George VI thought of another way to mortify the flesh during World War II. I was in prison at the time; there was an exceptionally dirty, primitive and degraded bathroom. I was surprised when one day two men appeared with paint and brushes; badly as the bathroom needed painting it seemed somehow out of character that it should occur to anyone to embellish or clean the prison in any way. The men took out a tape measure and exactly five inches from the bottom of the bath they carefully painted a thick green line on the chipped enamel. This was called King George’s Line. The idea was that nobody should use more than five inches of water to bath in. I cannot remember why; water, with our nice English rainfall, was one of the rare commodities in plentiful supply, and it did not have to be imported. Whether courtiers respected King George’s Line we shall never know, possibly they locked the bathroom door and disloyally wallowed. In any case it was a gesture, so important in times of national emergency, and doubtless the cost of paint and labour was minimal.


Which would you rather be, one of Queen Elizabeth’s ladies in waiting beaten by her employer with such fury that a finger was broken, or her modern equivalent who walks behind the Queen loaded with flowers, sweets and cuddly toys bestowed by the adoring public?


It is by no means only the English who adore the royal family. The French never tire of reading about them, and invent thrilling stories. There is a magazine, read by every concierge in the land as well as most of the dukes, devoted exclusively to royalty, and even distant cousins of Belgian or Scandinavian royal personages are good for a mention.


Being a lady in waiting is not all beer and skittles. Somebody I knew was in waiting to Queen Mary in the war and nearly died of cold. Fires in bedrooms were forbidden. She asked if she might collect a few dry twigs and make one in her freezing room, but was told she could not. It speaks volumes for something or other that she did not resign. She helped Queen Mary with her war work, they collected ploughs and harrows left conveniently under hedges by the local farmers and dragged them triumphantly to a heap they made of scrap metal. The farmers rescued their tools as soon as the Queen had gone in to her tea.


Anne Somerset’s book is well-written, well-researched and well-produced. The terrible story of Lady Flora Hastings, accused by Queen Victoria and others of bearing an illegitimate child when in reality she was mortally ill with cancer of the stomach, is excellently told.


Tittle tattle about Court life inevitably comes from diarists: Pepys, Evelyn, Saint Simon, Lord Hervey, Fanny Burney, some near the events they describe, others relying on gossip. Perhaps we are too ready to believe everything they say. When one thinks of modern diarists, for example Harold Nicolson and the nonsense he wrote, possibly too much credence is accorded to their predecessors.


It is a pity that ladies in waiting do not, like the confidante, wear white linen; how chic it would be! The modern ideal is to fade gracefully and unobtrusively into the bus queue.


Cocktails and Laughter is a photograph album. For people over sixty it is like the old song ‘Thanks for the memory… How lovely it was!’ As with all snapshots a little imagination must be used if anyone is to be convinced that it really was lovely; they are almost as untrue to life as Cecil Beaton’s cellophane and balloons or modern photographs featuring broken blood vessels and dirty wrinkles. Hugo Vickers is a perfect choice for writer of the preface. He is so kind, so indulgent to OAPs that he makes us out to be positively human. Loelia Duchess of Westminster, Lady Lindsay, is the daughter and granddaughter of courtiers; her father wrote a book about his years at Court which is brilliantly funny.


Proofreading of the captions is very poor. Verda for Verdura, Morosoni for Morosini, Princess Jane di San Faustino, most American of Americans, a ‘smart Italian’ and there is no such person as Lady Venetia Stanley. Not that it greatly matters. The theory that people now live almost for ever gets a bashing in Cocktails and Laughter, only a handful survive who might grumble at such trifles. Even if the young don’t think it looks as lovely as all that, I notice they are glued to this book, gazing rapt at their grannies and gaffers; it will therefore have a great success.


Ladies in Waiting, Somerset, A. (1984)


Cocktails and Laughter; Photograph Albums, Lindsay, L. ed. Vickers, H. (1983)
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Acres of Roses


Since Lord Drogheda is my exact contemporary and we have a number of friends and acquaintances in common, and because he has been so closely associated with two institutions from which I have derived immense enjoyment and profit, the Financial Times and Covent Garden, it has been a pleasure to read his memoirs. He quite obviously has a perfect genius for getting on with people and encouraging them to get on with one another (what is now called public relations). He helped his newspaper and the opera house to run along as smoothly as possible despite all the difficult, spiky and quarrelsome individuals who inhabit Fleet Street and the world of music.


If his memoirs are less than lively it is probably precisely because of this smoothing and soothing quality of his. He says one of his friends described him as waspish, but there is small evidence of waspishness; except for a little dig now and again at some rather unpopular figure there are roses all the way.


When he writes about his mother the book lights up, but there is not nearly enough about her. After his parents were divorced she married a Mexican polo player, but the marriage did not last and she had a series of friends. During the war her friend was a handsome Albanian who was a marvellous cook. This in itself shows what a wonderfully clever woman she was, because marvellous cooks were rare and they were needed when spam and smog or whatever wartime foods were called were on the menu. Chatin Sarachi—we could have done with more about this delightful creature, and perhaps less about some of Lord Drogheda’s colleagues in Bracken House. (There is a photograph of St Paul’s seen from a window at Bracken House. But what about Bracken House from St Paul’s? The post-war business community has a lot to answer for in the way the space made by bombs was used.)


This brings me to my chief complaint: the treatment accorded here to Brendan Bracken. It was through him that Lord Drogheda’s career in Fleet Street was made: they were friends and colleagues for twenty five years. Bracken had bluffed and shoved his way to the top with the most amazing mixture of talent, effrontery and mendacity. In spite of being hideously ugly he was very attractive because of his intelligence, wit and oddity. Almost none of this comes through. Working so closely with Brendan for so long, there must be dozens of hilarious stories hidden in Lord Drogheda’s memory. Loyalty is all very well, but there need have been nothing disloyal. Brendan destroyed his papers at his death, but this did not prevent his biography being written, more than once. To make him just another tycoon with his pockets full of directorships to shower on his favourites is not really doing him a service. At the end of his life he wrote Lord Drogheda a letter from South Africa with sound advice on how to make, and keep, money. On no account must it be held in sterling, said Brendan with commendable foresight.


One episode in connection with Covent Garden remains unexplained. Why, after the war, was one of the very few authentic musical geniuses these islands have produced carefully excluded? Sir Thomas Beecham would have been a giant among pygmies, is probably the answer. It would not have been comfortable for the pygmies. In 1956 Beecham wrote a sensible letter to The Times, suggesting ‘a full and enlightened inquiry into every branch of its activities… undertaken by an independent body’. Lord Drogheda describes this letter as ‘disgraceful’. He adds that an article in the New Statesman by Desmond Shawe-Taylor put Sir Thomas in his place. Desmond Shawe-Taylor is an excellent critic, but surely Sir Thomas’s ‘place’ was at Covent Garden.


Another small complaint: Lord Drogheda’s predecessor as chairman there was Sir John Anderson, with whom he worked for a long time, and who with his wife Ava was a source of endless amusement to friends. You would never guess it from this book; they are taken at their own, very high, valuation. (Imagine for one moment what Malcolm Muggeridge would have made of the Andersons, had he been harnessed to Sir John.)


The number of committees Lord Drogheda served on makes you dizzy; plenty of praise and bouquets all round are bestowed. 




As Don Carlos, Jon Vickers added greatly to his budding stature. He was proving a real feather in David’s* cap.


* Sir David Webster, general administrator of the ROH.





Well, it is perfectly easy to see what is meant.


Lord Drogheda has had an eminently useful life and he has enjoyed himself, which is admirable and disarming. His book could have been a bit shorter, and a bit cheaper, and jokes might not have been quite so strictly rationed; but it is not nearly as dull as the Edwardian lady’s country diary* which heads the best-seller list.


* The Country Diary of an Edwardian Lady (1978)


Double Harness: Memoirs of Lord Drogheda, Earl of Drogheda, Books and Bookmen (1978)
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Old Men Forget


To see ourselves as others see us—is it a gift? Or is it the very opposite, something we should on no account wish for anyone we care about? In his memoirs, Lord Norwich portrays himself, presumably, quite truthfully as he imagines himself to be—statesman, author, man of the world—and, as he writes well and almost succeeds in giving an impression of calm and balance, his book may be read in the future, and he taken at his own valuation, by those who seek to discover from contemporary sources why England finds herself in her present reduced circumstances.


This book is, of course, not only by, but also about, Mr Duff Cooper, who tells of his childhood, school, Oxford; of the years when he worked as a clerk in the Foreign Office, and the six months at the end of the First World War when he was in the army. He tells of his entry into politics, and the various ministerial offices he occupied; then his resignation after the Munich crisis, and how, on September 1st, 1939, when he heard that ‘the second World War had begun my heart felt lighter than it had felt for a year’. He describes his indignation and worry next day—‘we went to the Savoy Grill. I felt I could eat nothing, but dealt very successfully with a cold grouse’—lest, after all, the Allies should fail to declare war on Germany, and his relief when finally they did so.


His praise of his own talents he reinforces with numerous quotations from his fan-mail: ‘I had a talent for public speaking’, he tells us. The present reviewer never heard him in the House of Commons, so cannot judge his parliamentary performances which are said to have been on a high level; on the public platform he was very poor, delivering not a speech but a rather dull lecture, and losing his temper with interrupters. That is the key to much of his character. ‘I am apt to become heated in argument,’ he says. At how many of the pleasant dinner parties and luncheons to which he refers did the veins on his forehead start out, as he seemed to approach apoplexy, as the result of some trivial difference of opinion? The interesting part about this performance was its effect on those present. Let no one imagine that the sight of a middle-aged Cabinet Minister raging in fury at a fellow-guest in a private house was alarming, for, unless an actual burst was feared, it was not. Any stranger present must have been rather amazed; but it was such an everyday occurrence that it aroused no more than a feeling of mildest irritation, embarrassment, or amusement, according to the temperament of the onlookers. ‘Little Duff did a veiners last night’ his companions would relate, and no one was in the least surprised to hear it. He tells much about his private, as a background to his public, life, so it is as well to get it in perspective; it is in the light of this rather excitable personality that the events described in his book should be read and judged.


It is worth while to take a careful look at the photographs he has chosen to illustrate it—the neat little boy; the vulgar youth with a cigarette hanging out of his mouth; the cocky MP standing beside his beautiful wife, wearing her famous ‘Madonna’ expression but minus the decorative bandages; the ambassador in his library, looking very weary, as if he had just calmed down after a particularly violent veiners.


Mr Duff Cooper first entered Parliament as Tory member for Oldham. He lost his seat in 1929, and was nursing the Winchester constituency when St George’s Westminster fell vacant and the Press lords put up an anti-Baldwin Conservative candidate of their own in the resulting bye-election. He decided to fight as official candidate. This was an election which tested the power of the popular press: the Daily Mail, Daily Express, Evening News and Evening Standard—‘every issue of each of them was devoted to damaging my cause’—had a good case. ‘Discontent with Baldwin’s leadership was not confined to those who doubted the wisdom of his Indian policy,’ writes the author. Lord Beaverbrook, who ‘fought hard and spoke daily’, sought to dissuade him from standing. ‘He felt sure I should lose.’ But ‘I won by more than five thousand votes’—and as to Baldwin ‘the Press lords by their attack had strengthened his position’.


The highlight of Mr Duff Cooper’s political career was his resignation after Munich. He resigned, apparently, because he thought England should go to war then and there, though as First Lord of the Admiralty and a former Secretary of State for War he must have been fully aware of her unpreparedness. On 28 September, 1938, he notes in his diary: ‘I lunched at Buck’s with Diana and the Cranbornes. They are of course boiling with anti-government indignation’. Lord Cranborne must have been longing to resign, but could not do so for the excellent reason that he had resigned already a few months before, over Abyssinia. (He had boiled when the Prime Minister decided to discuss our differences with Mussolini, he boiled again when he went to discuss our differences with Hitler, and more recently he seems to have simmered at the thought of the present Prime Minister discussing with Malenkov ways and means of ending the cold war. Nobody minds such ministers resigning; unfortunately this time he did not do so; both his chiefs were ill and he was able to do his worst as Acting Foreign Secretary.)


Was Mr Duff Cooper’s resignation the wise act of a selfless and high-principled statesman? Was it a futile gesture, a sort of veiners in public? Or was there a resemblance to Georges Mandel, who, like him, knew the state of his country’s defences, but was quite happy at the prospect of war? He gives the following account of a visit to the latter in March 1940 when he was Minister for the Colonies: ‘I saw Mandel, who was gay and brave. I asked him about the French air force, of which I had heard disquieting reports. He laughed and said that every time he asked about it he was told there were fewer machines than when he last enquired. He seemed so cheerful I thought I had misheard him, but he had meant what he said.’ Very funny no doubt—for France; but considering everything, would not ‘frivolous and irresponsible’ meet the case better than ‘gay and brave’? However all this may be, Mr Duff Cooper is proud of his resignation, pleased with the speech he made, and altogether very much satisfied. Perhaps he imagines he was being gay and brave too—brave, because ‘political acquaintances cut me’ and because when he visited France ‘I was distressed to find that my French friends were even more enthusiastic in their support of the Munich policy than were the majority of my friends in England, and that there were fewer exceptions.’ The Prime Minister was relieved to see him go, and Hitler saw that the war party in England had gained another recruit. Mr Duff Cooper frankly admits that many of his contemporaries regarded him as a war-monger, and quotes some of their letters abusing him. He seems to be proud of it.


So much for the statesman. Now for the writer. He has produced an excellent life of Talleyrand, a good life of Haig, and a novel with the embarrassing title Operation Heartbreak. He tells us that he has always loved poetry, and aspired to be a poet. He has composed verse on and off all his life, and is good enough to include a few examples of his work so that we may judge for ourselves the poetic talent of a man who, although he understands the German language, writes ‘Heine is the only German writer in whom I really delighted.’ Thus he dismisses Goethe, Schiller and Hölderlin—the very pinnacle of poetic genius. (He admits he is tone-deaf and does not like music.) Here are a couple of verses from a poem he wrote on the outbreak of war in 1939:








Oh England, use us once again


Mean tasks will match the old;


Our twiddling thumbs can hold the skein


From which the wool is roll’d.


It may not be. Not ours to fight,


Not unto us, O Lord,


Shall twice in life be given the right


To serve Thee with the sword.











He sent this effort to the Editor of The Times, but ‘he neither published the verses nor answered the letter.’ He probably felt it was the kindest thing to do.


The best part of Old Men Forget, and by far the most interesting, is about General de Gaulle and his relations with Sir Winston Churchill and President Roosevelt. It is an almost incredible story, from which Mr Duff Cooper, who served as Ambassador first in Algiers and later in Paris, emerges with great credit. He endured endless snubs, frustrations and rebuffs in his efforts to prevent England and France, or rather their capricious and huffy rulers, from quarrelling fatally at the end of the war. The fact that the two countries had every interest in common would not in itself have been enough to keep them united, given the characters of the men involved. Eight months after the end of the war, with Roosevelt dead and Churchill and de Gaulle out of office, this particular danger had passed. In 1947 Mr Duff Cooper was recalled, and an Ambassador whose views were more in accord with those of the English government of the day was installed in his place. He had, apparently, learnt nothing. Although in 1946 he wrote: ‘Today the mighty arm of Russia is paramount in the countries that are nearest to her borders, and the muscular fingers of that arm are busy in the lands that lie beyond. In no European country is there a Communist majority, but almost everywhere the Communists are gaining ground because of the support from abroad on which they know they can rely,’ yet in 1947 he says: ‘He (Bevin) said there was only one point on which he agreed with me, namely that the danger still came from Germany rather than from Russia’.


Politician, author, man of the world—it is a far cry from the old song, referring to his famous wife, which went:








Who is Mr Pankhurst? Who is Mr Humphrey Ward?


Who is Duff Cooper—not Lady but Lord?











Unfortunately however, it remains true, as a witty person remarked, that a little Norwich is a dangerous thing. Such little influence as he was able to exert in the 30s was a dangerous influence, for England and for Europe, as we can now all too clearly see.


Lord Winterton’s memories of the House of Commons cover the period 1904 to 1951. The book is not, in its terms of reference, an autobiography; there are no cold grouse, no Miracle, no poems to beguile us. Lord Winterton is obviously not such a practised writer, and possibly not such a clever man as Lord Norwich, yet his book is of lasting value as a record of English politics.


He has the rare gift, so valuable in a Parliamentarian, of being able to judge a speech, a debating point, or even a rude retort with himself as target, strictly on its merits, and distributes praise among the talented on both sides of the House. He also realises, which is very clever of him, and unusual in a real House of Commons’un, that House of Commons jokes generally seem much less funny when repeated outside than they did at the time they were made, so much do they depend on atmosphere and timing. He frequently compares the House with a school presided over by the Speaker-headmaster; (a Speaker like Colonel Clifton Brown was not nearly severe enough with the unruly boys, he tells us, and looked far too benign) and on 2 May, 1940, he notes in his diary: ‘Very grave news. The Boches have now taken… Amiens and Abbeville. Notwithstanding these events, the House of Commons at its very worst at question time—frivolity, foolish chaff and indulgence in ridiculous arguments…’ and he adds: ‘I have remarked before that the House of Commons sometimes shows its anxiety and nervousness on great and serious occasions during question time by behaviour reminiscent of an infants’ school.’


The pages of Hansard for the last half century are sprinkled with Lord Winterton’s interruptions and ejaculations; nobody was in more rows, and he was quick to anger. In moments of tension, he says, ‘the centre vein of my forehead swells—a characteristic I share with Sir Alfred Duff Cooper.’ Nevertheless he remained through it all a well-mannered, public-spirited English gentleman, without a trace of spite in his character.


His fault, as an historian, is that he is often too generous. After writing a passage eulogising President Roosevelt he showed it to an American friend, who said: ‘Yes, I know, it’s the same story with everyone who meets him for the first time… that is his harlot’s charm.’ Lord Winterton was very much annoyed by this, and writes: ‘It is easy to be cynical about Presidents and Prime Ministers…. But I prefer not to be cynical about Franklin D. Roosevelt.’ There is virtue in this naïve approach, for it demonstrates a fact so often ignored by the historian who has never left his study—namely, the power of charm in a politician to dazzle even such an old hand at the game as the author of this book. It is a quality shared by all who rise to the very top in politics in every country in the world, and nothing is harder to explain or to define.


Lord Winterton visited another famous charmer, Lloyd George, in 1941. ‘His main theme was that, whoever won the war, the end of it would see Western civilisation in ruins, with little chance of the re-emergence of Britain as a great Power within the lifetime of the youngest person alive. Though it was a dark and gloomy day, with deep snow on the ground, I left Mr Lloyd George’s house without any great feeling of depression about what he had said to me, because I thought it represented the views of an old and tired man who would be naturally inclined to look at matters in a pessimistic way; but I have often pondered on his words since then. It was not a fashionable view at the time, as everyone forced themselves to believe that when Nazism and Fascism were destroyed a great new era of hope would begin for the world,’ he writes.


Mr Lloyd George’s plea in the House of Commons, early in the war, that we should negotiate peace while there was yet time to save England and Europe from disaster, had called forth a furious speech from Mr Duff Cooper, denouncing the old war leader for defeatism. It is easy enough now to see which of these two men was right; but the counsels of sanity, balance and foresight were disregarded, while silliness and hysteria triumphed.


Orders of the Day contains much that is interesting and much that is amusing; also the best defence of the Munich settlement and the most intelligent attack on Socialist policy in Africa yet written by any Tory. It is worth reading for these alone; let no one be put off this book by the rather unappetizing extracts which have been appearing in a Sunday paper.


Old Men Forget: The Autobiography of Duff Cooper, Cooper, D. (1953)


Orders of the Day, The Rt. Hon. Earl Winterton, P.C. (1953)
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Kindly Con Man


Self-made men are two a penny, but whoever heard of a self-made boy? The answer is, everyone who knew Brendan Bracken. One was told: ‘Brendan, an Australian orphan, sent himself to school in England and paid the fee out of money he had made.’ The truth about his beginnings, which Andrew Boyle has so cleverly searched out, is much stranger than any of his friends can have imagined, and much stranger than the assorted fictions he himself indulged in. Who could have guessed that he was one of a large family who were alive and well and living only a few hundred miles away across the Irish Sea? ‘Everything about the man is phoney. Why, even his hair, which looks like a wig, is real!’ exclaimed an American who did not take to Brendan.


In the early 30s we dined with him sometimes at his pretty old house in North Street; we thought he was an Australian because he said so. He was very good company, held right-wing views, and was devoted to Winston Churchill. The Churchill children had a story that he was ‘papa’s’ son, and we were inclined to think that perhaps he was and that his name, which suited him so well, was probably a brilliant invention of Mr Churchill’s. Yet, like his fuzzy red hair, the name Brendan Bracken turns out to have been his very own.


He was born in 1901 at Templemore in Co Tipperary; his father, who sculpted gravestones and was an active Fenian, died when he was three and his mother married again. There were several brothers and sisters. Brendan was sent to a Jesuit boarding school where he was so unhappy that he ran away. His relations arranged for him to go to Australia, where he worked at various jobs including teaching and journalism. He also read enormously, and came to admire England so much that he decided to become an Englishman. For this purpose he considered it essential that he should go to an English public school, so having saved a few hundred pounds he sailed for England. Here he made his way to Sedbergh and called upon Mr William Nassau Weech, the headmaster. He told him several lies. He said he was an Australian orphan whose parents had perished in a bush fire, and that he was 15 years of age. Whether or not he was believed, Brendan talked Mr Weech into accepting him into the school.


Brendan, lapsed Catholic and lapsed Irishman, an enormous ‘boy’ aged 19, drew a cheque book out of his pocket and paid his fees there and then. He stayed at Sedbergh only one term, but the Weech family had grown so fond of him that they invited him to spend Christmas with them. When he left, he had an old school tie and a near-English accent; certainly it was neither Irish nor Australian, but what is now called mid-Atlantic. In his rather thick voice he talked incessantly, and if anyone else succeeded in saying a word or two Brendan kept up a sort of humming sound until he could break in and resume his monologue. Part of the reason why he and Randolph Churchill so often quarrelled was that they both wanted to talk and both became exasperated when neither would listen.


In order to keep body and soul together after leaving Sedbergh Bracken taught at a preparatory school near London, where he seems to have taken pleasure in beating the unfortunate boys. His vile behaviour there—and some of his pupils are still alive to tell the tale of the cruel ‘red-haired master’—comes as a disagreeable surprise to those who only knew him as a kind friend, but it ties up with strange stories one had heard, and which Andrew Boyle mentions briefly, of Brendan many years later incongruously dressing up as a boy in shorts and wishing to be whacked himself. Except for one or two beautiful girls, who were miles beyond his reach but whom he pretended to court, one never heard Brendan’s name linked with man or woman. His passion was directed elsewhere, to money and to power.


Andrew Boyle has mapped his rapid ascent in detail. When they first met, in J.L. Garvin’s house, Brendan’s hero Winston Churchill was not only out of office but out of Parliament. Bracken had no difficulty in attaching himself, but though the circumstances chanced to be rather favourable there is no doubt that he was exactly the sort of young man Churchill liked to have about him: brash, self-assured, amusing, talkative and efficient, with the news and gossip of the day bubbling out of him at top speed. Bracken’s profession was now journalism; his ambition, politics.


In 1929 he was elected MP for North Paddington, and in Parliament he made Churchill’s causes his own, sharing in his unpopularity and meanwhile making a good deal of money in business and in newspapers. After ten years on the back benches the war came; Churchill’s star rose, and with it Bracken’s.


There followed six glorious years when he was where he had always longed to be—at the very centre of things. As Minister of Information, ‘God’s greatest liar’, as Randolph called him, came into his own. He got on splendidly with journalists and was the most loyal of colleagues, and loyal as well to his subordinates, some of whose clever propaganda ideas misfired. For example, having heard from ‘intelligence’ that German officers guarding the Franco-Spanish frontier were homosexuals, ‘a plan was devised for dropping suitable pornographic leaflets, beautifully illustrated and captioned, on these idle enemy units in the hope of undermining their morale.’ The leaflets were to fly over in balloons, but unluckily a freak storm blew up and they landed on a golf-course in Surrey. A golfer who picked one of them up complained to J.B. Hynd, a new MP who ‘held rigid views on the counter-productive nature of our sordid business’. Bracken, determined to shield his bright ideas man, received Mr Hynd and told him: ‘You shouldn’t be surprised at the lengths to which Goebbels will go.’ He succeeded in convincing Mr Hynd that it was the Germans who had sent the beautifully illustrated pornographic leaflets. Since, presumably, they were ‘captioned’ in German this cannot have been too easy; but Brendan’s deviousness amounted to genius and he was believed. In such care-free style did the Minister of Information run his ‘lie-machine’. It cost a fortune, but it was only the tax-payers’ money and it ran on oiled wheels.
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